
Pre-Meeting Agenda 
Mountain Brook City Council 

City Hall - Room A106 
56 Church Street 

Mountain Brook, AL 35213 
November 23,2015 5 4 5  PM 

1. Proposal fiom Nimrod Long & Associates and Schoel Engineering to design 
sidewalk connections and pedestrian bridge embankments to connect to our Phase 
5b sidewalk project.(See attached contracts. These two items could be added to 
the formal agenda.) 

2. Blueprint Birmingham $5,000 funding for FY-2016 (See attached information. 
This item could be added to the formal agenda.) 

3. Workplace Violence Policy - Steve Boone.(See attached information. This item 
could be added to the formal agenda.) 

4. UBER ordinance-Whit Colvin (See attached information. This item may be added 
to the formal agenda.) 

5. Three (3) items dealing with Small Cell Technology facilities-Steve Stine (See 
attached idormation. These three items may be added to the formal agenda.) 



N i m r o d  L . r r n 6  

A n d  A r r o c # a t c s  

I n a n d  P l s n n c r s  

l . a n d r c 8 p r  A r c h a ~ e c t r  

U r b a n  O e r a s n r r s  

November 18,201 5 

Mr. Sam Gaston 
City Manager 
City of Mountain Brook 
56 Church Street 
P.O. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook AL. 35213 

RE S i d e d  at Watkins Branch Bridge 
Proposal for Landscape Architectural Services 

Dear Sam: 

W e  are pleased to offer this proposal for landscape architectural design services for the sidewalk connections 
and prefabricated bridge at Watkins Branch. The scope includes sidewalks connecdng Erom the Cahaba Road 
and Mountain Brook Parkway crossings to a new bridge crossing for \Vatkins Branch. This will also include 

reconfigudng the existing Mountain Brook Parkway crossing and service access to the t d .  

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
We will prepare design drawings for the walkways, service access and plandngs. \Ve will also coordinate the 
company providing the prefabricated pedesttian bridge, civil engineers providing survey and permitting 
services associated with the bridge crossing. We will hire a structural engineer to design the bridge supports. 

Our design services will include the following: 

1. Coordination with Walter Schoel Engineering on topographic survey and permits; 
2. Coordination with a local (Alabama) bridge designer on the bridge design and connection to trails; 
3. Coordination with Structural Design Associates on bridge footing design; and 
4. Design of changes to existing sidewalks and service access for the \Vatluns Branch Trail, 
5. Location and design of decorative fence to direct pedestrians to the new route at the intersection 

with gated access for service and emergency vehicles; and 
6. Landscape Planting Plans showing locations, species, sizes, quantities and planting d e d s  that will be 

incorporated into the full set of CD's. 

We understand this work wiU be bid and paid for directly by the City of Mountain Brook without outside 
matching funds. We suggest the City purchase the bridge directly from the manufacturer. Costs of installing 
the bridge footings wouId be included in the bid for the sidewalk and other work 

8 8 0  L l o n t c l r i r  R n a d .  S u r r c  2 3 5 .  H m r m i n g h r r n  A1. 3 5 2 1 3  T t I .  2 S S  321-6072 !:ax. 2 0 5  3 2 4 - b f 2 8  



W a h s  Branch Pedestrian Bridge Crossing 
November 18,201 5 
Page 2. 

COMPENSATION 

We pxopose a lump sum fee $9500.00 for our woxk outlined above. Fees for the structural engineers are 
included in mA's fee. Pees for Walter Schocl Engineering would be in addtion to that and would be 
invoiced as reimbursable expenses to the City. 

Reimbursable expenses such as repro-graphics, plotting, photocopying, mileage, long distance calls, etc. will be 
billed at 1.1 times the cost to the fm. 

Thank you for considering this proposal for services. It's a pleasure to be involved in thc design of Mountain 
Brook's outstanding system of sidewalks and trails - great projects for a great community. 

Sincerely, 

Nimrod Long and Associates, Inc. 

President 



AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTING SERVICES 

BETWEEN 

NlMROD LONG AND ASSOCIATES 

AND 

WALTER SCHOEL ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 

FOR 

WATKINS BROOKTRAIL BRIDCG CONSULTING SERVICES 

Mountain Brook, Alabama 

November 18,2015 

This AGREEMENT, entered into by and between Nimrod Long and Associates, hereinafter referred to as the Client, 
and Walter Schoel Enginee ring Company, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the Consultant, is for civil engineering and 
land surveying services associated with a pedestrian bridge planned for Watkins Brook, located in Mountain Brook, 
Alabama. 

SCOPE OF WORK 

I. TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY 

A field-shot topographic survey would be performed in the area proposed for the bridge. This survey would serve as 
a basis for architectural and civil design. The detailed scope is as follows: 

Establish site control from which all topographic and utility surveying will be referenced. 
Locate large trees. 
Locate topography and indicate spot elevations for all shots on survey 
Locate public sanitary sewer that runs through the area 
Process field survey data and prepare a Topographic survey on an appropriate scale to be determined by the 
Consultant. 
Furnish electronic and hard copies as required. 

Lump Sum Fee S 5,250 

2. DESIGN CONSULTING 

The Consultant would assist the Client in the design and permitting of the bridge. The Design Plans are to be 
developed by the Client. The Consultant would prepare the Floodplain Development pennit and No-Rise 
Certification for the bridge located in the Floodway of Watkins Brook. The Consultant would provide design 
consulting for erosion control, which would be included in the Construction Documents by the Client. Thedetailed 
scope is as follows: 

Perform design consulting on bridge location and configuration 
Coordinate with Jefferson County on sanitary sewer issues with proposed bridge 
Input bridge into HEC-RAS model to determine if the No-Rise condition exists 
Prepare Floodplain Development Permit and No-Rise Certification 
Develop erosion control design for inclusion in Client's plans 
Assistance with submittals and approvals 

Lump Sum Fee S 8,540 



3. CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION 

The Consultant will perform Construction Review to evaluate the Contractor's general conformance with plans and 
specifications. The Consultant will review Shop Drawings, and work with the Contractor and Client in solving any 
minor construction related problems that may arise. The detailed scope is as follows: 

Review o f  shop drawings 
Construction observation to be perfonned on an as-needed basis and at the direction o f  the Client 
Minor construction-related revisions - Revisions required as a result o f  field conditions or as agreed upon 
by the Client 

Hourly Estimate $ 1,000 (to be performed as needed, and billed hourly) 

NOT IN SCOPE OF WORK 

1. Selection or design o f  bridge, or bridge systems (by Client) 
2. Submittals to FEMA (only a local no-rise review is assumed) 
3. Sanitary sewer modifications 
4. Easement descriptions or other formal approval work for allowing the bridge in the sanitary sewer 

easement. If format approvals and documentation is required, these services would be performed hourly. 
5. Stormwater ADEM NPDES permit (the site is under one acre and none should be required) 
6. Civil Construction documents (plan set by Client; design input will be by mark-up or exhibit). 

PAYMENT TERMS 

The Consultant will bill the Client monthly based on work completed during the billing period. Work completed will be 
based upon a percentage o f  completion for Lump Sum Fees, and will be based on time and materials at the attached 
schedule o f  unit rates for Hourly Estimates and Not to Exceed agreements. Payments are due within thirty (30) days o f  
invoice date. The Client's obligation to pay for services is in no way dependent upon the Client's ability to obtain 
financing, obtain approval from any governmental or regulatory agencies, real estate closing, receipt o f  payment fiom 
other parties or upon successful completion ofthe project. If payment is not received within thirty (30) days hmdateof 
invoice, the amounts may include a late charge o f  1 H % per month, calculaled from said thirtieth (30'~) day. Should 
Consultant incur attorney's fees for collection o f  payment, the amount owed to Consultant shall include any and all said 
fees. Failure to make payment within sixty (60) days shall constitute a waiver o f  the right to dispute the accuracy and 
appropriateness o f  the invoice. In addition, Consultant reserves the right to suspend services under this Agreement until 
such time as payment is made in full for all amounts due for services rendered and expenses incurred has been received. 



SCHEDULE OF UNIT RATES - EFFECTIVE THROUGH 12/31/2015 

Senior Principal $ 225.00 per hour 
Principal S 170.00 per hour 

Chief Land Surveyor $ 170.00 per hour 
Senior Project Manager $ 140.00 per hour 
Project Manager 2 S 125.00 per hour 
Project Manager 1 S 110.00perhour 
Senior Professional $ 120.00 per hour 

Project Professional $ 105.00 per hour 
Staff Professional $ 90.00 per hour 
Senior Designer i Survey Draftsman i Specialist % 90.00 per hour 
Designer i Survey Draftsman / Specialist 2 $ 80.00 per hour 
Designer ,' Survey Draftsman I Specialist 1 $ 70.00 per hour 

Field Survey Party $ 150.00 per hour 
Laser Scanning Field Crew $ 200+00 per hour 
Laser Scanning Specialist $ 125.00 per hour 
IntemlSupport S 55.00 per hour 
Courier S 25.00 per delivery 
Transportation S 0.50 per mile 
Materials (Stakes and Hubs) S 0.35 each 

(Flagging) S 2.50 per roll 
(Iron Pins and Caps) S 5.00 each 
(Spray Paint) '3 5.00 per can 

Printing and other reimbursable expenses will be charged at cost, and are not included in the fee basis described 
above. Sub-consultant invoices will be billed to the client at a rate of 110% of the sub-consultant invoice. Overtime 
rates may apply for work required during non-standard work hours. 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDtTtONS 

I )  Services performed under this Agreement will be conducted in a manner consistent with that level ofcare and skill 
exercised by members of the profession currently practicing under similar conditions. Plans, specifications, and 
submittals will be prepared in accordance with the written standards ofthe governing authorities havingjurisdiction. 
Any extraordinary requirements for approvals will be considered additional services. No other warranty, expressed 
or implied, is made. Nothing in this agreement is intended to create, nor shall it be construed to create, a fiduciary 
duty owed by either party to the other party. 

2) The Client hereby agrees that to the hllest extent permitted by law the Consultant's total liability to Client for any 
and all injuries, claims, losses, expenses ofdamages whatsoever arising out of or in any way relating to the project, 
the site, or this Agreement, from any causeor causes including but not limited to the Consultant's negligence, errors, 
omissions, strict liability, breach of contract, breach ofwarranty shall not exceed the greater ofthe total amount paid 
by the Client for the services of the Consultant under this contract or $50,000.00, whichever is greater. The 
Consultant's liability shall expire one (1) year from the completion date of the provision ofservices for each phase of 
the work. 

3) The figures given above and in the body of this Agreement are based on the Scope of Work as described herein. If 
the above outlined Scope of Services is changed, or if there are other services that may be requested by the Client, 
these additional services will also be performed at the above unit rates, or a revised fee will be negotiated to the 
satisfaction of both the Client and Consultant at that time. The Consultant reserves the right to adjust these unit rates 
for inflation costs on a one-year interval from the date of this proposal. 



4) Al l  claims, disputes, and other matters in  controversy between Consultant and Client arising out o f  or in any way 
related to this agreement (other than as a result ofclient's failure to pay amountsdue hereunder) will besubmitted to 
mediation before, and as a condition precedent to, other remedies provided by law. Medlation shall be held in the 
county where the project is located, and if the parties cannot agree on a mediator then one shalt be appointed by the 
American Arbitration Association (AAA). Parties agree to split cost o f  mediation 50-50. 

5) Services not expressly set forth i n  writing as basic or additional services and listed in the proposal to this Agreernt 
are excluded from the scope o f  the Consultant's services, and the Consultant assumes no duty to the Client to perform 
such services. 

I) Client, at its expense, will provide the Consultant with all required site information, existing plans, reports, studies, 
project schedules and similar information that is contained in Client's files. The Consultant may rely on the 
information provided by the Client without verification. The Client shall participate with the Consultant by 
providing all information and criteria in a timely manner, review documents and make decisions on project 
alternatives to the extent necessary to allow the Consultant to perform the scope o f  work within established 
schedules. 

7) Consultant shall secure and maintain insurance as required by law or statutory requirements which will protect him 
from claims under the workers compensation acts and from claims for bodily injury, death, or property damage that 
may arise fmm the performance o f  his services under and pursuant to this Agreement. Certificates ofsuch coverage 
wil l  be provided to Client upon request. 

8) Al l  reporls, plans, documents, or other materiats resulting from the Consultant's efforts shall remain the property o f  
the Consultant and are intended solely for the purpose o f  this Agreement. Any reuse by Client for purposesoutside 
o f  this Agreement or any failure to follow Consultant's recommendations without Consultant's written permission 
shall be at the user's sole risk. 

91 This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days written notice in the event of  substantial 
failure to perform in accordance with the terms o f  the agreement by the other party through no fault o f  the 
terminating party. If this Agreement is terminated, i t  is agreed that Consultant shall be paid for total charges for 
labor performed to the terminatinn notice date, plus reimbursable charges. 

10) Neither party to this Agreement wil l  be liable to the other party for delays in performing the services, nor for the 
direct or indirect cost resulting from such delays, that may result from labor strikes, riots, war, acts ofgovernmental 
authorities, extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control o f  either party. 

1 1) The invalidity o f  any portion o f  this Agreement wi l l  not and shall not be deemed to affect the validity o f  any other 
provision. In  the event that any provision ofthis Agreement is held to be invalid, the parties agree that the remaining 
provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect. 

12) The Consultant shall not be responsible for construction site safety or construction procedures, nor will the 
Consultant be responsible for the quality o f  the work performed by the contractor or other consuttants. 

13) Consultant may, at Client's request and for Client's convenience, provide documents in etectronic format. Data, 
words, graphical representations, and drawings that are stored on electronic media or which are transmitted 
electronically, may be subject to uncontrollabIe alteration. The printed, signed and sealed hard copy is the actual 
professional instrument o f  service. In the event o fa  discrepancy between the electronic document and the hardcopy 
document, the hardcopy document wil l  prevail. 



PROPOSAL ACCEPTANCE 

SUBMITTED: ACCEPTED: 

Consultant: Walter Schoel Engineering Company, Inc. Client: Nimrod Long and Associates 

Signature: Signature: 

Name: Walter Schoel Ill Name: 

Title: President Title: 

Date: 1 1!1U2015 Date: 

Please print or type the following information for the individual. firm or corporation responsible for payment. 

Client o r  Client's authorized representative: 

Street Address: 

City, State, Zip: 

Phone Number: Fax Number: 

Email Address: 

Client's Project Number: Client's Purchase Order Number: 



e L , birminghambus inessalIlanc. 
THE CakYBEl  FOR R E 3  O \ A i  PROSPEAIT Y 

505 20ih Street North Suite MO 
Birmingham, AL 39203 

SamS.mston 
City d Mountain Broo(t 
P 0 b 130009 
Birmingham, AL 35213 

Fay your dues online at h@://wwuv.blrmlnghsmbwln~lllsn~~.~~1. 
F8d-l taK Xd#24(529738 

B 0 A Inverbment 
lr/Ol/2OlS to 1QBU2016 

The BBA estlrnates that 90% ot your Investment may be deductible as a buslness wpenx. 
For adulce on all tax ma-, please colwtlt your tax advlsor or an attorney. 

By submlUJng pryment, I amrm my acceptance and endoment  of the rnlodon and 
objedlves of the Bltmlngham Business Allknee, whleh lndude the prornotlon of cconornlc 

development, burlness growth and business mtentlon actiulty wlttrln the Bltmlngham -Ion 

1.00 5,000.00 

Total 
AmtPdd 

wmca Due 

51000.00 

s,aoo.oo 
0.00 

5,000.m 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

P. 0. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213-0009 
Telephone: 205.802.2400 
www.mtnbrook.org 

To: Sam Gaston, City Manager 
From: Steven Boone 
Date: November 13,20 15 
Subject: Workplace Violence Policy 
C: Mayor and members of the City Council 

The City's workers' compensation carrier has suggested that the City Council consider 
adopting a workplace violence policy. I have prepared a policy and had it reviewed by Trip 
Umbach with Starnes, Davis & Florie. If approved, this policy will be included in the 
Employee Handbook as Exhibit K. 



WORKPLACE VIOLENCE POLICY 

Introduction 

The City of Mountain Brook seeks to provide a work environment free from violence or threats of 
violence against individuals, groups, or employees, or threats against City property, including 
partner violence (as defined below) that may occur on our property. This policy requires that all 
individuals on City premises or while representing the City conduct themselves in a professional 
manner consistent with good business practices and in absolute conformity with non-violence 
principles and standards. 

Definition 

For purposes of this policy, workplace violence is defined as a single behavior or series of 
behavlors whlch constitute actual or potential assault, battery, harassment, intimidation, threats 
or similar actions, attempted destruction, or threats to City or personal property; that occur in a 
City workplace, while using City resources, at a City work location, or while an individual is 
engaged in City business. 

City Response 

The City of Mountain Brook strictly prohibits use of violence or threats of violence in the 
workplace and views such actions very seriously. The possession of weapons in the workplace 
(except by pollce officers authorized to carry a weapon), threats, threatening or menacing 
behavior, stalking, or acts of violence against employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals by 
anyone on City of Mountain Brook property will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy will lead 
to disciplinary actions up to and including termination of employment and the involvement of 
appropriate law enforcement authorities as needed. 

Any person who makes substantial threats, exhibits threatening behavior, or engages in violent 
acts on City of Mountain Brook premises shall be removed from the property as quickly as 
safety permits, and may be asked to remain away from City of Mountain Brook premises 
pending the outcome of an investigation into the incident, People who commit these acts 
outside the workplace but which impact the workplace are also violating this policy and will be 
dealt with appropriately. The City of Mountain Brook reserves the right to respond to any actual 
or perceived acts of violence in a manner we see fit according to the particular facts and 
circumstances. 

When threatening behavior is exhibited or acts of violence are committed, City of Mountain 
Brook will initiate an appropriate response. This response may include, but is not limited to, 
evaluation by City's designated Employee Assistance Professionals andlor external - 

professionais, suspension andlor termination of any business relationship, reassignment of job 
duties, suspension or termination of employment, andlor criminal prosecution of the 
personlpersons involved. 

No existing City policy, practice, or procedure should be interpreted to prohibit decisions 
designed to prevent a threat from being carried out, a violent act from occurring, or a life- 
threatening situation from developing. 



Reporting Procedure 

City of Mountain Brook personnel are responsible for notifying the designated management 
representative of any threats which they have witnessed, received, or have been told that 
another person has witnessed or received-including those related to partner violence. Even 
without an actual threat, personnel should also report any behavior they have witnessed which 
they regard as threatening or violent, when that behavior is job related or might be carried out 
on a City controlled site or is connected to City employment. Employees are responsible for 
making this report regardless of the relationship between the individual who initiated the threat 
or threatening behavior and the person or persons who were threatened or were the focus of 
the threatening behavior. If the designated representative is not available, personnel should 
report the threat to their supervisor or another member of the management team. 

City of Mountain Brook understands the sensitivity of the information requested and has 
developed confidentiality procedures, which recognize and respect the privacy of the reporting 
employee(s). Consistent with the values of the City, people should take action in ways that 
maintain respect and dignity for individuals while acting in an accountable and swift manner to 
address the situation. 

Protective o r  Restraining Orders 

All individuals who apply for and obtain a protective or restraining order which lists City locations 
as being protected areas, must provide to their department supervisor or designated 
management official a copy of the petition and order. 

Designated Management Representative 

Title: City Manager 
Telephone: 2051802-3803 
Location: City Hall, 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213 

Partner Violence and the Workplace 

The City of Mountain Brook recognizes the impact of partner violence on the workplace. Partner 
violence is defined by the City as abusive behavior occurring between two people in an intimate 
relationship. It may include physical violence, sexual, emotional, and psychological intimidation, 
verbal abuse, stalking, and economic control. 

The City of Mountain Brook intends to make assistance available to employees involved in 
partner violence. This assistance may include: confidential means for coming forward for help, 
resource and referral information, special considerations at the workplace for employee safety, 
work schedule adjustments, or leave necessary to obtain medical, counseling, or legal 
assistance, and workplace relocation, if available. In responding to partner violence, the City will 
maintain appropriate confidentiality and respect for the rights of the employee involved. 

When emptoyees confide that a job performance or conduct problem is related to partner 
violence, in addition to appropriate corrective or disciplinary action consistent with City policy 
and procedure, a referral for appropriate assistance should be made to the employee. 



Leave Options for Employees Experiencing Threats of Violence 

The City of Mountain Brook will make every effort to assist an employee experiencing threats of 
violence. If an employee needs to be absent from work due to threats of violence, the length of 
the absence will be determined by the individual's situation through collaboration with the 
employee, their department supervisor, and City Manager. 

Employees, managers, and supervisors are encouraged to first explore paid leave options that 
can be arranged to help the employee cope with the situation without having to take a formal 
unpaid leave of absence. Depending on circumstances, this may include: 

Arranging flexible work hours so the employee can seek protection, go to court, 
look for new housing, enter counseling, arrange child care, etc. 

Considering use of sick time, compensatory time, paid leave, informal unpaid 
leave, etc., particularly if requests are for relatively short periods. 

Suggested Procedures for Safety and Protection of 
Employees Experiencing Threats of Violence 

Employee 

Employer 

Encourage the employee to save any threatening e-mail or voice-mail messages. 
These can potentially be used for future legal action, or can serve as evidence 
that an existing restraining order was violated. 

The employee should obtain a restraining order that includes the workplace, and 
keep a copy on hand at all times. The employee may consider providing a copy 
to the police, or hidher supervisor. 

The employee should provide a picture of the perpetrator to reception areas 
andlor security. 

The employee should identify an emergency contact person should the employer 
be unable to contact the victim. 

If an absence is deemed appropriate, the employee should be clear about the 
plan to return to work. While absent, the employee should maintain contact with 
the department supervisor. 

Arrange for the victim to have priority parking near the building. 

Have calls screened, transferring harassing calls to security, or have the 
employee's name removed from automated phone directories. 

Limit information about employees disclosed by phone. Information that would 
help locate a victim or indicates a time of return should not be provided. 

Relocate the employee's workspace to a more secure area or another site. 



The employer should have trained EAP professionals or external professionals 
assist the employee with development of a safety plan 

rn Work with local law enforcement personnel, and encourage employees to do so 
regarding situations outside the workplace. 



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE VIX OF CHAPTER 26 OF THE CITY 
CODE OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as follows: 

1. Amendatory Provision. Chapter 26, Article VII, Section 26-227 (y) 
"Schedtlle Y - Motor vehicle carriers and express companies" of the City 
Code shall be amended by repealing subsection (y) in its entirety and 
replacing it with the following: 

"(y) Schedt~le Y - Dunsit and passenger transportation. 

(1) Each person, firm, corporation, company, association, partnership, 
agency or business engaged in the business of transit or passenger 
transportation in the City, either directly or indirectly through agents, 
employees, independent contractors or other representatives 
("Licensee") shall pay a license tax, and each Transportation Network 
Company ("TNC") that operates in the City shall pay a fee as follows: 

a. Motor carriers, as defined in the Code of Alabama, shall pay a 
license tax as provided in Ala. Code 537-3-33 (1975). 

b. Express companies as, defined in the Code of Alabama, shall pay a 
license tax as provided for in Ala. Code 5 1 1-5 1-1 26 (1 975). 

c. A TNC shall pay a flat fee of $500.00 per year. 

(i) TNC means a corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship, 
or other entity that uses a digital network to connect TNC 
riders to TNC drivers who provide TNC Services. A TNC 
shall not be deemed to control, direct or manage the 
personal vehicles or TNC drivers that connect to its digital 
network, except where agreed to by written contract. 

(iii) TNC Services means the provision of transportation by a 
driver to a rider, beginning when a driver accepts a ride 
requested by a rider through a digital network controlled by 
a TNC, continuing while the driver transports a requesting 
rider, and ending when the last requesting rider departs from 
the TNC vehicle. 



(iii) TNC vehicle means a vehicIe that is used by a TNC driver 
and is: (a) owned, Ieased or otherwise authorized for use by 
the TNC driver; and (b) not a utility, common carrier, for- 
hire vehicle, motor vehicle carrier, contract carrier, 
transportation company, express company, taxicab, or 
limousine. 

(iv) The City shall permit each TNC applicant that meets the 
requirements for a TNC set forth in this Section and pays 
the annual fee to operate in the City. 

(v) TNCs are not motor carriers, express companies, utilities, 
common carriers, for-hire vehicles, contract carriers, 
transportation companies, or taxicab or limousine services 
pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Alabama Code, nor are TNCs 
Licensees. 

(vi) TNC drivers shall not be required to pay such fee, license 
tax, or license fee, nor shall they be required to obtain a 
commercial permit or license from the City . 

d. All other persons or entities engaged in transit or the transportation 
of passengers shall pay a flat license fee of $500.00 per year. 

(2) Bnckgrozmd Checks. Each Licensee or TNCshall conduct, or have a 
third party conduct, background checks on any and all for-hire vehicle 
drivers or TNC drivers. The background check, shall at a minimum, 
include (a) Multi-StateMulti-Jurisdiction Criminal Records Locator 
or similar commercial nationwide database search with validation 
(primary source search); (b) National Sex Offender Public Website 
search; and (c) a driving history search. 

Background checks shall be conducted prior to the driver's provision 
of transportation service or TNC Service in the City and annually 
thereafter.. 

(3) Driver Qtialt~carions. No Licensee shall permit any person employed 
or otherwise engaged by Licensee to provide transportation services, 
and no TNC shall allow an individual to act as a TNC driver on its 
digital platform, who: 

a. Has been convicted, within the past seven years of driving under 
the influence of drugs or alcohol, fraud, sexual offenses, use of a 



motor vehicle to commit a felony, a crime involving property 
damage and/or theft, acts of violence or violation that constitutes a 
felony under the Anti-Terrorism Act of 2002, Ala. Code $5 13A- 
10- 150 et al. or a similar felony offense under the laws of another 
jurisdiction. 

b. Is a match in the National Sex Offender Public Website. 

c. Has accumulated more than three (3) moving violations or a major 
driving violation, including but not limited to attempting to evade 
the police, reckless driving, or driving on a suspended or revoked 
license, during the three year period prior to the driving history 
check. 

d. Who does not possess a valid driver's license, proof of vehicle 
registration and automobile liability insurance or who is under 
nineteen (1 9) years of age. 

Records shall be kept by the licensee or TNC showing that the above 
qualifications have been met for each person performing 
transportation or TNC services. 

(4) (a) Insurance for TNC vehicles. All TNC vehicles shall be covered by 
insurance which meets the following criteria, at a minimum: 

(i). Automobile liability insurance of at least one million 
($1,000,000) dollars per incident involving a TNC driver for 
death, personal injury and property damage while providing 
TNC Services in the City. 

ii. Such insurance may be maintained by the TNC Driver, the 
TNC, or any combination thereof. 

iii. Certificates of insurance shall be kept by the TNC showing that 
the above insurance requirements have been met for each person 
performing TNC Services. 

(b) Insurance for non-TNC for-hire vehicles. All non-TNC for-hire 
vehicles shall be be covered by insurance which meets the following 
criteria, at a minimum: 

i. Automobile liability insurance of at least one million 
($1,000,000) dollars per incident involving a for-hire vehicle driver 



for death, personal injury and property damage while providing 
passenger transportation services in the City. 

ii. Such insurance may be maintained by the for-hire vehicle driver, 
the Licensee, or any combination thereof. 

iii. Certificates of insurance shall be kept by the Licensee showing 
that the above insurance requirements have been met for each person 
performing transportation services pursuant to the license. 

( 5 )  Rate Discloszire. Each Licensee and TNC shall adopt procedures, 
practices or policies requiring the disclosure of passenger rates, 
estimated fares, suggested fares or the means of computing the fares to 
passengers prior to each passenger trip. Such disclosure may be by 
electronic or other means. 

(6) Motor Carriers. Motor carriers, express companies or other 
transportation companies operating under the jurisdiction of the 
Alabama Public Service Commission or other State regulatory body 
shall be permitted to obtain a City license upon submission of a copy 
of the motor carrier certificate issued by the public service 
commission and, in such case, shall not be required to demonstrate 
compliance with the above subsections (2) through (5) as a condition 
of the license. 

(7) Government Owned Transportation Companies, Transportation 
companies owned or operated by a municipality, a county 
government, the state of Alabama or the federal government shall be 
exempt from the provisions of this section. 

(8) Other Exemptions. Persons engaged by a passenger to provide 
transportation in a vehicle owned by the passenger and persons who 
transport passengers on a not-for-profit basis shall be exempt from the 
provisions of this section. 

2. Repealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the 
City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent 
with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby expressly repealed. 

3. Severability. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be 
held unconstitutional or invaIid for any reason, such holding shall not be 



construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this ordinance, which shall 
continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

4. Effective Date. This ordinance shaIl become effective immediately upon 
adoption and publication as provided by law. 

ADOPTED: The - day of November, 20 15. 

- 
Virginia C. Smith 
Council President 

ADOPTED: The day of November, 20 15. 

Lawrence T. Oden 
Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby 
certify the above to be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Mountain Brook at its regular meeting held on November , 
201 5, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting 

Steven Boone, City Clerk 



Page 1 of 1 

Sam Gaston 

From: 

Sent: 
To: 

Steve Stine 
Friday, November 20,2015 1153 AM 

'Steve Boone' 

Cc: 'Sam Gaston'; whitcoivin@bishopcolvin.com; Dana Hazen 

Subject: Small Cell Technology Ordinances and Franchise Agreement with Crown Castle - Materials 
for Monday Night Council Meeting 

Attachments: ORD - Small Cell Technology Ord Nov 18 for Chap 126.docx; ORDINANCE Amend Chapter 
14 Fees-Novl8.docx; Crown Castle-MountainBrookFranchiseAgrnt-Nov 19 w Change in Sec 
6.docx 

Steve, as promised and per your request, attached are the materials to send to the City Councilors concerning 
the Small Cell Technology matters on Monday night's meeting Agenda: 

1. Small Cell Technology Facilities Ordinance - Nov 18 Version 
2. Ordinance to Amend Chapter 14 - Fees Small Cell Facilities 
3. Proposed Franchise Agreement with Crown Castle - Nov 19 Version 
4. A Nov 20 Memorandum that I have prepared to provide the Councilors an overview of these 

matters. 

Also, please remember that we need to attach the photos that Dana sent on Wednesday afternoon and 
proposed as the Exhibits to the Facilities Ordinance, and include those photos in the Council packets. Before you 
attach and circulate that, could you please remove the "Verizon" heading on the photos and the page with 
words from these photos as neither of this extraneous information needs to be in the final form of the 
Ordinance? Thanks. 

Steve Stine 
1910 First Avenue North 
Birmingham, Alabama 35203 
Phone : (205) 251-2881 
Fax : (205) 254-3987 
Email: sstineCbisho~colvin.com 

BISHOP. COIVIN.-IOHJISON L CENT. &LC 

I This email has been checked for viruses by Avast antivirus software. 
7vostr 

br tmr 

www.avast.com 



MEMORANDUM 

To: Mountain Brook City Councilors 

From: Steve Stine - Bishop, Colvin, Johnson & Kent 

Re: Overview Small Cell Technology Matters on City Council Agenda for November 23,2015 

Date: November 20,2016 

The following three related matters are on Monday night's Council Agenda: 

(a) An Ordinance to adopt regulations for the installation and use of Small Cell 
Technology Facilities on the ROW and private properties in the City. If this 
Ordinance is adopted, these new regulations will be placed in a new Chapter 126 
in the City Code; 

(b) An Ordinance to Amend Existing Chapter 14 to provide for new permit and 
annual license fees for placing Small Cell Technology facilities in the City; and 

(c) A Franchise Agreement between the City and Crown Castle NG East, LLC (Crown 
Castle) that will allow it to construct a Small Cell Network on the ROW in the City. 

Below is a brief overview of these matters and Small Cell Technology. 

Background 

The services provided by cellular and other wireless carriers heavily rely on antenna, signal converters 
and related equipment that those carriers locate on large facilities known as "macro towers." Chapter 
125 of the City Code regulates the placement, use and operation of such macro towers in the City. 
However, locating more macro-cell towers in any community is problematic for all concerned. Further, 

communities like Mountain Brook have "coverage gaps" where some wireless carriers are unable to 
provide wireless service or may offer sub-standard service because of topography, the unavailability of 
macro cell towers, the difficulties associated with acquiring new macro towers and other factors. 

Technologically, the use of Small Cell Technology facilities has been advanced by the wireless industry as 
a means to meet the growing demand for cellular and other wireless services, to fill coverage gaps and 
minimize the demand for new macro towers. Photographs that illustrate the types of Small Cell 
Technology facilities in question and types of requested installations are attached to the proposed Small 
Cell Technology Facilities Ordinance. 

In the recent past, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) has enacted regulations that 
effectively mandate that local governments allow the installation of Small Cell Technology Facilities on a 
relatively expedited basis. However, these regulations also recognize that, provided a local government 
does not enact regulations that prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting interstate or intrastate 
telecommunications, that government may exercise its general police powers to regulate the placement 
and use of such facilities in their jurisdictions. 



At a pre-Council meeting earlier this year, Crown Castle provided preliminary information concerning its 
request for authorization to install a Small Cell Technology Network on the City Right of Way (ROW). 
Crown Castle owns macro towers in multiple locations and leases those facilities to wireless carriers. 
Further, it holds a certificate issued by the Alabama Public Service Commission to provide 
telecommunications service in this State. Crown Castle is not a cellular carrier itself or currently 
engaged in the business of delivering wireless or other telecommunication messages and signals directly 
to end users. Instead, its primary line of business appears to that of a facility provider (i-e., a carrier's 
carrier") that constructs, installs and operates facilities that are used by those telecommunication 
carriers who directly serve end users. 

After Crown Castle's prior presentation, Dana Hazen, Steve Boone, Sam Gaston and I have had many 
meetings and discussions, and considerably interacted with representatives of Crown Castle (including 
its local counsel, Andy Rotenstreich) concerning its request. The City Staff and I have investigated 
pertinent matters and drafted the proposed Ordinances. Further, multiple drafts of them and the 
proposed Franchise Agreement, and other information pertinent to these matters, have been 
exchanged between representatives of the City and Crown Castle in the recent past. 

After careful consideration of all matters, the City Staff and I recommend approval of three Small Cell 
Technology matters that are on Monday's agenda in substantially the form presented to the Council. 
This approval will provide the City a regulatory framework that balances the interests of all concerned, is 
consistent with federal and state regulations and laws, will benefit the citizens of the City by improving 
the quality and availability of wireless communication service to them, and will reasonably 
accommodate Crown Castle's request. 

Interestingjy, it is believed that Mountain Brook may be the first local government in Alabama to 
consider adoption of Small Cell Technology regulations and implement this Technology. In fact, Crown 
Castle has identified the City as a "priority area" for the wireless service improvements that should 
transpire in the City if the Council approves the subject matters. 

Highlights of Proposed Ordinances and Agreement 

As discussed above, the Small Cell Technology Facilities Ordinance is  intended to allow the wireless 
industry to instajl Small Cell facilities at locations in the City needed by wireless carriers to improve 
service, but simultaneously regulate the placement and use of those facilities in a manner that is 
consistent with the nature, aesthetic qualities and character of the City. The key features of this 
Ordinance and the proposed Franchise Agreement are noted below: 

Facilities Ordinance 

1, No Small Cell antenna, converter, or other accessory equipment that is  placed on a pole or other 
structure on the ROW may be installed without a permit from the City. 

2, Any request by the applicant to install a new pole on the ROW must be approved by the City 
Council. 



3. In addition to utility poles, facilities may be placed on Traffic Signals, Street Lights owned by the 
City, except that no attachments may be made to the City's decorative lights in the 3 Villages. 

4. Any wireless carrier, certified telecommunication provider or party authorized by a carrier can 

apply for a Small Cell facilities permit. 

5. Requests for permits will be administratively considered and made by the City Manager, and not 
submitted to the Planning Commission for consideration. 

6. Decisions on permit requests must be made within 60 days after the applicant provides all 

information required in the Ordinance. 

7. The factors to be considered by City Manager in determining whether to issue a permit at a 
requested location include the following: whether options to collocate the facilities on an 

existing utility pole or structure have been exhausted; the demonstrated technological need for 
the facilities at the requested location; the visual impact of the facilities; the character of the 
area; whether the facilities are aesthetically consistent with the immediate area; the height that 
the facilities may extend over an existing structure; and whether the proposed installation will 
interfere with the public's use of the ROW. 

8. In the permitting process, the burden is on the applicant to show that i ts  proposal is the minimal 
physical installation that will meet the needs of the wireless service carrier. 

9. Permits are also required before placing Small Cell facilities on private properties. In addition to 
the other factors that are considered with respect to permitting of facilities on the ROW, stealth 
technology requirements and setback regulations apply when Small Cell facilities are placed on 

buildings in the City. 

Ordinance to Amend Chapter 14 

This proposed amendment will set the following new fees related to Small Cell facilities in the City: 

1. Permit Application and Review Fee - $200; 

2. Initial Permit Fee per Structure -$loo; and 
3. Annual License Fee for each structure on ROW on which Facilities are placed - $500. 

Franchise Agreement between Citv and Crown Castle 

The purpose of this Agreement is to grant Crown Castle a franchise to construct, maintain and operate a 
Small Cell Network on the City ROW. This Network will include not only the antenna, converters and 
other Small Cell facilities that are placed on structures, but also include fiber lines, hubs, and other 
equipment that connect the facilities on the structures to the remote macro towers used by wireless 
carriers. Provided Crown Castle complies with the permitting and other requirements of the proposed 



Small Cell Technology Facilities Ordinance, the approval of this Agreement will allow Crown Castle to 

construct its contemplated Network. 

The franchise proposed for Crown Castle is non-exclusive. In the future, the City may be asked to grant 
wireless carriers and other entities that are similarly situated to Crown the right to build their own Small 
Cell networks in the City. 

The terms of the proposed Agreement with Crown Castle are substantially similar to other Franchise 
Agreements entered by the City. Particuiarly, it is modeled on the franchise agreement entered by the 
City earlier this year with Southern light, LLC for it to construct a fiber optic telecommunication system 
in the City. The initial term of the proposed Franchise Agreement is 10 years, and, like the City's 
agreement with Southern Light and other franchisees, Crown commits in the proposed Agreement to 
pay the City a Franchise Fee of 5% of its gross revenues from its operations in the City. 

I and other members of the City Staff who are familiar with these matters will be at Monday night's 
meeting to address any questions that you may have concerning these matters. Also, Crown Castle's 
local counsel and their area Governmental Affairs representative are expected to attend that meeting. 

Cc: Sam Gaston 

Steve Boone 
Dana Hazen 



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE TO ADOPT REGULATIONS FOR SMALL CELL TECHNOLOGY 
FACILITIES IN THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama seeks to facilitate the 
availability of reliable, personal wireless communication services for its citizens and the public by 
permitting the placement along City right of ways and on private properties of Small Cell Technology 
facilities (as hereinafter defined) and structures required to furnish those services; and 

WHEREAS, the installation, expansion, and maintenance of Small Cell Technology facilities 
and associated structures on or along City rights-of-way and on private properties has significant impact 
upon: (1) the aesthetic values and historic character of the City; (2) safe use and passage on or along the 
right-of-way by the public; and (3) properties and property values in the City in areas where such 
structures are placed; and 

WHEREAS, the Federal Telecommunications Act (the "Act") and regulations promulgated with 
respect to the Act by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC) authorize local governments to 
enact reasonable regulations for the placement, expansion, height, and maintenance of Small Cell 
Technologies facilities and structures; and 

WHEREAS, as provided in this ordinance, the City seeks to mandate, where feasible, the 
collocation of Small Cell Technology facilities on existing utility poles and other support structures as 
opposed to installation of new structures; and 

WHEREAS, the above-noted collocation and other provisions of this ordinance are intended to 
be consistent with the Act and its associated regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the adoption of the regulations, procedures and requirements in this ordinance will 
permit personal wireless service providers to enhance the provision of those services and protect the 
public welfare, health, safety and interests of the City's citizens. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as follows: 

A new Chapter 126, will reads as follows, is hereby adopted and shall be inserted in the Mountain Brook 
Municipal Code: 

Chapter 126 - Small Cell Technology Facilities 

Section 1. Definitions 

The terms below have the following meanings for purposes of this ordinance. 

(1) "Abandonment" or "Abandon(s)" means that, following the placement of Small Cell 
Technologies facilities (and associated accessory equipment) or support structures in the City pursuant to 
a permit issued to personal wireless service provider or applicant, any of the following has occurred: (a) 
for any reason the facilities cease to be used to transmit signals, data or messages or otherwise be used for 
their intended purposes for a period of ninety (90) days; (b) the City revokes the permit for placement and 
use of those facilities due to nonpayment of applicable fees, the failure of the provider or applicant to 
comply with conditions in the permit or in this ordinance concerning them, or other valid reason; or 



(c) the provider or applicant fails to perform any of their responsibilities, obligations and requirements in 
this ordinance or in a permit that relate to the installation, construction, maintenance, use or operation of 
the facilities, accessory equipment or support structures, and that breach remains uncured for a period of 
sixty (60) days after the City provides written notice of the breach to the provider or applicant. 

(2) "Accessory Equipment" means any equipment other than an antenna that is used in 
conjunction with Small Cell Technology facility arrangements. This equipment may be attached or 
detached from a Small Cell Technology Wireless Support Structure, and includes, but, is not limited to, 
cabinets, optical converters, power amplifiers, radios, DWDM and CWDM multiplexers, microcells, 
radio heads, fiber optic cables and wiring, meters, and power switches on or in the immediate vicinity of 
a support structure. 

(3) "Antenna" means communications equipment that transmits and receives electromagnetic 
radio signals, is attached to a Small Cell Technology support structure and is used to communicate 
personal wireless services. 

(4) "Applicant" means a personal wireless service provider, an entity that is authorized by a 
personal wireless service provider to apply for or receive a pennit to install, construct, modify or maintain 
a Small Cell Technology Facility and related accessory equipment or support structure in the City or an 
entity certified by the Alabama Public Service Commission as a telecommunication service provider. 

(5) "Application" means a formal request submitted to the City for a permit to install, construct, 
modify or maintain a Small Cell Technology facility and related accessory equipment or support 
structure. 

(6) "City" shall mean the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama. 

(7) "City Council" shall mean the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama. 

(8) "City Manager" shall mean the person appointed by the City Council as the City Manager of 
the City. The City Manager includes any employee of the City or other person designated by that 
Manager to perform the responsibilities in this ordinance. 

(9) "Collocation" means the placement or installation of new Small Cell Wireless Technology 
Facility or related accessory equipment on an existing utility pole or other support structure that is owned, 
controlled or leased by a utility, the City or other person or entity. 

(10) "Personal Wireless Service Provider" or "Provider" means an entity that provides personal 
wireless communication services to the public or citizens of the City on a commercial basis, and is 
authorized by the FCC to provide those services. 

( I  1) "Private Property" means real property located in the City that does not lie within the public 
right-of-way. 

(12) "Public Right-of-way" means the surface and space above and below the public rights of 
way, streets, avenues, highways, roads and dedicated municipal easements within the City's corporate 
boundaries. 

(13) "Small Cell Technology Facility(ies)" means and includes the following lypes of structures: 
(a) antenna; and (b) accessory equipment. Photographs and illustrations of the types, relative dimensions 



and scale of these facilities that are contemplated by this ordinance are attached as Attachment A to the 
permanent record of this ordinance that is maintained by the City Clerk. 

(14) "Small Cell Technology Wireless Support Structure" or "Support Structure" means a 
freestanding structure designed or used to support, or capable of supporting, Small Cell Technology 
Facilities, including, but not limited to, utility poles, street light poles owned by the City or utilities, 
traffic signal structures, rooftops, attics, or other enclosed or open areas of a building or accessory 
structure, a sign or flag pole. These terms do not include the City's decorative and architecturally 
significant street lights that are installed in its villages as those decorative lights are inappropriate for use 
as a Support Structure. 

(14) "Stealth Technology" means a method(s) of concealing or minimizing the visual impact of a 
Small Cell Technology facility (and associated accessory equipment) and support structure by 
incorporating features or design elements which either totally or partially conceal those structures. The 
use of these design elements is intended to produce the result of having said facilities and associated 
structures blend into the surrounding environment andlor disguise, shield, hide or create the appearance 
that the facilities are an architectural component of the support structure. Photographs and illustrations of 
examples of the types of Stealth Technology that may be used when buildings are utilized as support 
structures and other applications of Stealth Technology that are contemplated by this ordinance are 
attached as Attachment B to the permanent record of this ordinance that is maintained by the City Clerk. 

Section 2: Permit Required to Place Small CelI Technology Facilities in thc Public Right of Way: 

(a) A personal wireless service provider or applicant must obtain a permit from the City before 
placing, installing, or constructing any Small Cell Technology facility (and associated accessory 
equipment) on any support structure that is located on the public right of way, or substantially modifying 
the position or characteristics of any such existing facility thereon. 

(b) The City Manager will review and administratively process any request for a permit to 
determine whether, in the exercise of the City Manager's reasonable discretion, it should be issued for the 
location and in the manner requested by the applicant. In this process, the burden is on the personal 
wireless service provider or applicant to demonstrate that the placement of the proposed facility and 
associated accessory equipment or support structure on the public right of way is the minimal physical 
installation which will achieve the goal of enhancing the provision of personal wireless services when 
considering all pertinent factors discussed in the provision immediately below. Except as set forth in 
this section, this permitting process will not require the approval of any City Board or City official other 
than the City Manager. 

The factors, requirements and guidelines that the City Manager may consider and will apply 
when determining whether to issue a permit for placement of facilities and associated structures on the 
public right of way include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(i) the demonstrated need for placing the structures at the requested location and 
geographic area in order to deliver or enhance personal wireless service; 

(ii) the visual impact of placing the structures in the subject area; 

(iii) the character of the area in which the structures are requested, including 
surrounding buildings, properties and uses; 



(iv) whether the appearance and placement of the requested structures is 
aesthetically consistent with the immediate area; 

(v) whether the structures are consistent with the historic nature and 
characteristics of the requested location; 

(vi) the applicant's network coverage objective and whether the applicant should 
use other available or previously unconsidered alternative locations to place the 
structures; 

(vii) Colocation. To the extent practical, all facilities and associated accessory 
equipment that are placed in the City shall be attached to a pre-existing support 
structure that is owned, controlled or leased by a utility, franchisee, the City or 
other entity. If the applicant demonstrates that no colocation opportunities exist in 
the area where a technologically documented need for a facility exists, the 
applicant may request that a new utility pole or other support structure be installed 
in that area for purposes of constructing the facilities. Before any new support 
structure is permitted, each of the following must occur: 

(1) the applicant must have provided the City written evidence that 
no colocation opportunity exists. This evidence shall include, but not be 
limited to, affidavits, correspondence, or other written information that 
demonstrates that the applicant has taken all actions to achieve 
colocation in the requested location or area, that the applicant has 
pursued but been denied access to all potential colocation sites in the 
subject area (and the reasons any such denial(s)), and otherwise show 
that the applicant is unable to co-locate on an existing support structure; 

(2) the City Manager must recommend the placement of a new 
support structure in the public right of way; and 

(3) the City Council must approve the recommendation of the City 
Manager to issue a permit that includes the placement of a new support 
structure in the public right of way. The City Council will consider 
whether to approve any such new structure at a regular Council meeting 
that will be conducted as soon as practical after the City Manager's 
recommendation is made; 

(viii) if a facility is attached to a utility pole or other support structure in the public 
right-of-way, no antenna or other part of the facility shall extend more than five (5) 
feet above the height of the support structure; provided that, in the event that the 
applicant demonstrates that National Electric Safety Code regulations or other 
factors create an undue hardship in complying with this height requirement, the 
City Manager may permit a facility to extend up to ten (10) feet above the height 
of such support structure; 

(ix) accessory equipment shall, if reasonably possible, be placed at least 10 feet 
above the ground; 

(x) the color of antenna and accessory equipment shall be compatible with that of 
the support structure; 



(xi) the facility (including the accessory equipment) shall not be illuminated; 

(xii) whether the proposed installation could cause harm to the public or pose any 
undue risk to public safety; 

(xiv) whether the proposed installation may interfere with vehicular traffic, 
passage of pedestrians or other use of the public right of way; and 

(XV) if the proposed installation will disturb conditions on the public right of way, 
whether the applicant can demonstrate its ability and financial resources to restore 
the subject area to its pre-existing condition following installation. 

(c) Application Process. 

(i) At a minimum, each application for a permit shall contain all of the following: 

(1) engineering drawings depicting the type of facilities, support 
structure and means and points at which those will be attached to a 
support structure; 

(2) map(s) designating with specificity the location(s) of the 
requested facilities; 

(3) the geographic coordinates of all antenna and other proposed 
facilities; 

(4) if the facilities will be located on a support structure on the 
public right of way that is owned by any entity other than the City or the 
providedapplicant , a copy of any license, lease, agreement or other 
documentation indicating that the owner of that structure authorizes the 
facilities to be attached; and 

( 5 )  if the provider or applicant requests permission to place facilities 
on a new support structure, the substantiation therefor required by 
Section 2(b) (vii) in this ordinance. 

Within 30 calendar days after an application for permit is submitted, the City shall 
notify the applicant in writing if any information is needed to complete that 
application or supplemental information is required to process the request. 

(ii) Time for Processing Application. Unless another date is specified in a written 
agreement between the City and the provider or applicant, the City, within sixty 
(60) calendar days of the date an application for a permit is filed, shall: 

(1) make its final decision to approve or disapprove the application for a 
permit; and 

(2) advise the provider/applicant in writing of its final decision. 



An application shall not be deemed filed or complete until the applicant has 
submitted to all documents, information, forms and fees specificaIly enumerated in 
this ordinance that pertain to the location, construction, or configuration of the 
facilities or support structures at the requested tocation(s). To the extent additional 
information is required to complete the application, the 60 calendar day review 
period set forth in this subsection shall not begin to run until the applicant has 
provided any missing or requested supplemental information. 

(iii) Reconsideration/Appeal. Any applicant that desires reconsideration of an 
administrative decision by the City Manager to deny a request for a permit to place 
a facility or support structure on the public right of way may seek review, 
modification or reversal of that decision by the City Council by submitting a 
request for reconsideration with the City Clerk within twenty (20) days following 
the City Manager's decision. That request for reconsideration will be considered 
by the City Council at a regular Council meeting that will be conducted as soon as 
practical after the request for reconsideration is made. If no request for 
reconsideration is submitted, the decision of the City Manager will be final. 

Additionally, the applicant, within (30) days following a decision by the City 
Council to deny a request for reconsideration or a decision by the City Council to 
not approve the placement of a new support structure on the public right of way, 
may appeal either of those decisions by the City Council to the Circuit Court of 
Jefferson County, Alabama. If no appeal of those decisions of the City Council is 
made, those will be deemed final. 

(d) Additional Requirements. Any personal wireless service provider or applicant to whom a 
permit is issued and that places facilities and associated structures on the public right of way also shall 
comply with the following requirements as long as those facilities and support structures are on or under 
the public right of way: 

(i) Prior to installing the facilities or support structures, the provider or applicant 
shall provide the City a Certificate of Insurance evidencing that it has obtained and 
will maintain the following types of insurance: (I) General Liability coverage 
insuring the risk of claims for damages to persons or property arising from or 
related to the installation, construction, maintenance, operation or any use of 
facility or support structure placed on or along the public right of way by the 
provider or the applicant (or any of their contractors) with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000 per occurrence; and (2) Workers Compensation Insurance as required 
by statute. The General Liability coverage shall list the City as an additional 
insured, and may be provided through a combination of a primary and umbrella 
policies. All insurance policies shall be furnished by insurers who are reasonable 
acceptable to the City and authorized to transact business in the State of Alabama. 
On an annual basis following initial installation, the providerlapplicant also shall 
furnish the City Manager a Certificate indicating that the above-noted coverage 
remains and will remain in effect. 

(ii) All facilities and associated structures shall be installed, erected, maintained 
and operated in compliance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations, 
including, but not limited to, regulations of the FCC. 



(iii) Following the installation of any facilities and associated structures, the 
provider or applicant, upon reasonable request and for good cause, shall furnish the 
City Manager a written certification from a licensed professional engineer in the 
state of Alabama stating that those structures have been inspected and are being 
maintained, operated and used in compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations, including those of the FCC that pertain to the transmission of wireless 
communication signals. For purposes of this provision, "good cause" shall mean 
circumstances have arisen that indicate the facilities and associated structures have 
been damaged, are not functioning in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations or otherwise pose a hazard to the public. If those structures fail at any 
time to comply with applicable laws and regulations, the provider or applicant, at 
its expense, shall cause those structures to be brought into compliance with said 
laws and regulations within fifteen (IS) days of the date of any written notice to 
them from the City Manager of non-compliance, or cease all personal wireless 
service operations related to those structures until the provider or applicant comes 
into full compliance with said laws and regulations. 

(iv) The facilities and associated structures must at all times be maintained in good 
and safe condition. On no more frequent than a triennial basis, the City Manager 
may request that the provider or applicant, at their expense, furnish certification 
from a professional engineer who is licensed in the state of Alabama that the 
facilities and structures are in sound condition. Should that engineer deem those 
structures unsound, the provider or applicant shall furnish the City Manager a plan 
to remedy any unsafe conditions or structural defect@) and take that remedial 
action at the provider's/applicant's expense. 

(v) Each provider or applicant that applies for a pennit to place facilities (including 
the accessory equipment) and support structures on the public right of way and 
installs and utilizes those structures hall defend, indemnify and hold the City and 
its employees or officials, harmless from all demands, losses, expenses (including 
attorney's fees and court costs), claims for personal injury or property damage, 
judgments or liabilities of any type that may be asserted or claimed against the City 
(or its employees or officials) by any third person, firm or entity that arise out of or 
relate in any manner to the following: (1) the installation, construction, 
maintenance, use or operation of the permitted facilities, accessory equipment or 
any support structures on or about the public right of way; and (2) the failure of 
the provider or the applicant to perform any of their responsibilities, obligations 
and permit requirements in this ordinance. 

(e) Permit and License Fees. The provider or applicant for a permit to place facilities and 
associated structures on the public right of way shall pay the following types of fees that are enumerated 
in Chapter 14 of the City Code of Ordinances, as amended: 

(i) a permit application and review fee to be paid when an application is submitted; 

(ii) an initial permit issuance fee per each support structure on public right of way; 
and 

(iii) an annual license fee per each support structure on the public right of way 
pertaining to the ongoing use of public property. 



(f) Franchise Agreements for Other Uses of Right of Way. This Section 2 regulates the placement 
of Small Cell Technology facilities (and associated accessory equipment) on or in the immediate vicinity 
of support structures that are located or proposed to be located on the public right of way. No provision 
in this Section 2 or elsewhere in this ordinance is intended to permit, regulate or authorize the placement 
by a personal wireless service provider or a certificated carrier of telecommunication services of fiber 
optic lines, coaxial cable, switches, pedestals or networking equipment of any type that is used to 
transport telecommunication signals, data or messages between support structures or between any other 
points on the public right of way. In the event any such provider or carrier desires to place 
telecommunications equipment or facilities along the public right of way at points not regulated by this 
ordinance, the City may enter into franchise or similar agreements that authorize, govern and apply to 
such use of other locations on or along the public right of way. 

Section 3: Placement of Small Cell Technology Facilities on Private Property; 

(a) A personal wireless service provider or applicant must obtain a permit from the City before 
placing, installing, or constructing any Small Cell Technology facility (and associated accessory 
equipment) on any support structure that is located on private property, or substantially modifying the 
position or characteristics of any such existing facility thereon. 

(b) The City Manager will review and administratively process any request for a permit to 
determine whether, in the exercise of the City Manager's reasonable discretion, it should be issued for the 
location and in the manner requested. In this process, the burden is on the personal wireless service 
provider or applicant to demonstrate that the placement of the proposed Small Cell Technology facility 
and associated accessory equipment or support structure on private property is the minimal physical 
installation which will achieve the technological goal of enhancing the provision of personal wireless 
services. Except as set forth in this section, this permitting process will not require the approval of any 
City Board or City official other than the City Manager. 

The factors, guidelines and requirements that the City Manager may consider and will apply 
when determining whether to issue a permit for placement of facilities and any associated accessory 
equipment or support structure on private property include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(i) the factors and requirements set forth in Section 2(b)(i)-(xi); 

(ii) Colocation. The guidelines in Section 2(b) (vii) to utilize existing poles and 
support structures for the placement of facilities and accessory equipment are also 
applicable when considering whether to permit the installation of those facilities 
and structures on private property, provided that City Council approval is not 
required before a permit is issued to place a new utility pole or other support 
structure on private property if that action is appropriate, 

(iii) The personal wireless service provider or applicant shall use Stealth 
Technology installing the facilities and associated accessory equipment on any 
building or accessory structure that is located on private property. Further, Stealth 
Technology should be used when placing facilities on other types of support 
structures on private property unless the provider or applicant can reasonably 
demonstrate that, given the nature of the requested application, the use of such 
Technology is (a) unnecessary; or (b) impractical. 



(iv) If facilities are placed on an existing or new building or accessory structure 
thereto, the following dimensional regulations shall apply: 

1. Fasade-mounted antennas shall not extend above the face of any 
wall or exterior surface of the support structure. 

2. Roof-mounted antennas and accessory equipment may be 
permitted on buildings in a accordance with the following table: 

Height of Building Maximum Height of Required Setback from Edge 
Facility above Highest Point of Roof of Building 
of Roof 

Up to 15 feet 

15-35 feet 

More than 35 feet 

8 feet, including antenna 1 foot for every foot of height of 
equipment 

10 feet, including antenna 1 foot for every foot of height of 
equipment 

12 feet, including antenna 1 foot for every foot of height of 
equipment 

3. The antenna component of the facilities shall be limited to a 
maximum height of 3 feet and a maximum width of 2 feet. 

4. Accessory equipment must be located in an equipment cabinet, 
equipment room in an existing building or in an unmanned equipment 
building. If the equipment building is freestanding, it shall conform to 
Section 129-314 of the Mountain Brook Municipal Code with respect to 
building setbacks, that building shall not exceed 400 square feet, and its 
overall height shall be limited to 15 feet (if located on the ground) 
measured from the finished grade. Further, if an equipment building or 
cabinet is located in a residential zone, or the nearest adjoining property 
is in a residential zone, that building or cabinet shall be surrounded by 
landscaping to provide a screen of the same height as the building or 
cabinet. 

(v) Application Process. Except as provided in subparts (1) and (2) immediately 
below, the same application process that is set forth in Section 2(c) will be utilized 
when processing any request for a permit to place facilities or support structures on 
private property. 

(1) City Council approval to install a new support structure on 
private property is not a condition for a permit to place facilities on 
private property; and 



(2 )  If the facilities are located on private property that is not owned 
or exclusively used by the applicant, instead of providing the 
documentation contemplated in Section 2(c) (4), the provider or 
applicant shall present a license, lease, agreement or other documentation 
indicating that owner of said property has granted the applicant the right 
to place the facilities thereon and access to those facilities. 

(vi) Additional Requirements. Any personal wireless service provider or applicant 
to whom a permit is issued and that places facilities and associated structures on 
private property also shall comply with the following requirements as long as those 
facilities and support structures are located on private property: 

(I) All facilities and support structures shall be installed, erected, and 
maintained in compliance with applicable federal and state laws and 
regulations, including, but not limited to, regulations of the FCC, 

(ii) At least triennially following the installalion of the facililies or 
associated structures, the provider or applicant shall furnish the City 
Manager a written certification from a professional engineer licensed in 
the State of Alabama indicating that those structures have been inspected 
and are being maintained, operated and used in compliance with all 
applicable laws and regulations, including those of the FCC that pertain 
to the transmission of wireless communication signals. If those 
structures fail at any time to comply with said laws and regulations, the 
provider or applicant shall cause those structures to be brought into 
compliance with said laws and regulations within fifteen (1 5) days of the 
date OF my written notice to them of such non-compliance, and cease all 
personal wireless communications operations related to those structures 
until the provider or applicant comes into full compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations, 

(iii) The facilities and associated structures on private property must at 
all times be maintained in good and safe condition. 

(c) Permit and License Fees. The provider or applicant for a permit to place facilities and 
associated structures on private property shall pay the following types of fees that are enumerated in 
Chapter 14 of the City Code of Ordinances, as amended: 

(i) a permit application and review fee to be paid when an application is submiited; 

(ii) an initial permit issuance fee per each support structure on public right of way; 
and 

(iii) an annual license reissu~nce fee per each support structure on the public right 
of way pertaining to the ongoing use of public property. 



Section 4: Abandonment of Facilities. 

If a personal wireless service provider or applicant abandons any facility (including the accessory 
equipment) or an associated support structure (collectively "facilities" for purposes of this Section), the 
provider or applicant shall have the following obligations: 

(a) Within sixty (60) days after receiving written notice from the City Manager, or any such 
shorter time that may be prescribed by applicable law or regulation, the provider or applicant, at their 
expense, must remove any abandoned facilities that were owned, maintained, operated or used by them 
prior to the abandonment, and reasonably restore the condition of the property at which the facilities are 
located to that existing before they were installed. If the abandoned facilities are located on a support 
structure that is not owned by or not exclusively used by the provider or applicant, the providerlapplicant 
shall remove only part of the facilities that was placed, operated or used by or within their control prior to 
the abandonment; 

(b) If the provider or applicant fails to perform its responsibilities set forth in subpart (a), the 
owner, lessee or person or entity in control of the real property (the "ownerv* for purposes of this 
subsection) on which the facilities were placed may remove the abandoned facility(ies) that were 
exclusively used by or in the control of the provider or applicant at that location before the abandonment, 
and salvage or otherwise dispose of those facilities in any manner that the owner deems appropriate. If 
the City removes any abandoned facilities from real property that it owns, it shall have the right to 
purchase from the provider or applicant all abandoned facilities removed from that location in 
consideration for $10.00, and resell those facilities to a third party. Further, the provider or applicant 
shall within thirty (30) days after written demand from the owner, reimburse it for all expenses incurred 
by it to remove, dispose or salvage any abandoned facilities; provided that the proceeds of any resale of 
abandoned facilities by the City to a third party shall be credited to the account OF the provider or 
applicant that used those facilities before the abandonment. 

Section 5: To promote the public interest that is served by co-locating facilities and associated 
accessory equipment on existing support structures and thereby mitigating the installation of unneeded 
support structures throughout the City, no person or entity (including any personal wireless service 
provider, applicant, utility, or franchisee) that utilizes an existing support structure that is located on 
public right of way or on private property and has space available thereon may deny a personal wireless 
service provider or applicant the right to use or access to an existing support structure for purposes of 
attaching facilities permitted by this ordinance without sound operational, technological or other good 
reason. 

Section 6. Non-Applicability. The placement of antenna or facilities related to the following 
types of wireless communication services are exempt from regulation hereunder: (a) amateur radio 
service that is licensed by the FCC if the facilities related thereto are not used or licensed for any 
commercial purpose; and (b) facilities used by any federal, state or local government or agency to provide 
safety or emergency services. Further, the provisions in this Chapter are supplemental to, and not 
intended to alter, affect or modify the provisions in Chapter 125 pertaining to the placement or use of 
macro Telecommunications Towers. 

Section 7. Repealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this 
ordinance are hereby expressly repealed. 



Section 8. Severability. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held 
unconstitutiona1 or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 
remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

Section 9. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 
publication as provided by law.' 

ADOPTED: The - day of , 2015. 

Council President 

APPROVED: The - day of . ,201 5. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

1, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as its meeting held on, ,2015, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting, 
and published by posting copies thereof on ,2015, at the following public places, which copies 
remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Hall, 56 Church Street Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2805 Cahaba Road 
Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road The Invitation Place, 3150 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



ATTACHMENT A 

PHOTOGRAPHS AND ILLUSTRATIONS DEPICTING TYPES, RELATIVE DIMENSIONS AND 
NATURE OF SMALL CELL TECHNOLOGY FACILITIES AND ASSOCIATED STRUCTURES 
REGULATED BY THIS ORDINANCE 

The referenced photographs and illustrations are attached to the permanent record of this Ordinance that 
is maintained in the office of the City Clerk and available upon request to that office. 



Small Cell Solutions 

Contidentiatand ppietaly mateMIsfwauthonxedVm pmn& and ~ ~ m l y  Use. d i iaordkbibut jond thii matmialis ndpmnMto  any UM- pemmuthird patijesexfxpi hybwilien agreement 9 



Small Cell Solutions 

Cankkntial and proprielary materials far authaizled Verizon peMnnel and outside agencies only. Use. d'isdosure w dkbibulionol this material is 

.. , . 
' ., . . . 

. . P .  

. , . .  . , . .' . .. 
. , . ..I .. , . I ., ,. , , .! , . , . 

- .  . . .  . . . .  1'. . . . .  * a ! -  

. . 
5 -  . . . . ,  - " '. - :".I , ..,. . . . ...., Cf . . . - ,  

- . A  . 2 7 .  . . ;: .: : ,  - 
, . . .  I.. ' - I. 

& a ' .  ' . ,.. . , . , . -  
. . ' 1  - I.. 

9 " -  4 - 
M pennitred to any unaumorired persons w third parties excep! by written ageemat 2 





ATTACHMENT B 

PHOTOGRAPHS AND 1LLUSTRATIONS DEPICTING EXAMPLES OF STEALTH TECHNOLOGY 
FOR SMALL CELL TECHNOLOGY FACILITIES LOCATED ON BUILDINGS AND OTHER 
STRUCTURES 

The referenced photographs and illustrations are attached to the permanent record of this Ordinance that 
is maintained in the office of the City Clerk and available upon request to that office. 



I--- / FEATURES /- 

Adhesive - baclted .-F. Films 
Offer ~ a r n o u p a ~ &  for Srr 

By Steve King 

octkaround Chances are you're ' from becoming an eyesore every- printed on. So if a mobile service pro- 
probably surrounded by peo- where fmm St. Louis to Shanghai? vider wants to place a small cell next to 
ple looking down a t  their To make small cell equipmentmore , a brickwall, they can simply take a high- 

smartphones or tablets. They're doing aesthetically pleasing, a smarter ap- definition photo of the wall and have it 
everything from working to watching proach to concealment and camou- prin&donthefilm.Experiencedinstd- 
video orplayinggarnes - or just updat- flage is necessary. ers can then apply the film to the cell. 
ing their Facebookstatus. (Are you read- / Because small cells come invuious 'Ihe result can be a camouflaged 
ing this article on a mobile device?) shapes, the right solution needs to match, and sometimes it canbesoeffec- 

To accommodate all this band- be pliable. I t  also needs to be tough tivethatitrnayonlybeseenifyouknow 
width, s m d  cells will soon be p o p  and weather resistant because small i where to look. (Everyone is more inter- 
ping up everywhere. Small cells fit cells are frequently placed outdoors. ested in his or her smartphone screens 
just about anywhere because of their i Some mobile senice providers are anyway..)With solutionssuch as printable 
small size. However, they are typi- finding success by simply wrapping I f h ,  hiding in pkin sight may be the 
cally placed less than 30 feet high, so I small cells with the samematerialsused solution mobile carriers need for aes- 
it's harder to keep them out of sight. : to wrap cars or buses. Companies such thetidy pleasingnetwork -cation. 

If network densification is the key as 3M make adhesive-backed films that I 

factor in the wireless evolution, how are W resistant, durable for years, and SteveKing isanapplications engineerwith 
can we keep small cell infrastructure ! easy to apply. What's more, they can be I &3M CommwdcutionsMarkets Division. 



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 14 OF THE 
MOUNTAIN BROOK MUNICIPAL CODE 

WHEREAS, in Ordinance No. the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama ("'City Council") has enacted new regulations that apply to placement of Small Cell Technology 
Facilities ("Facilities", as defined in Ordinance No. and used herein) along public right of ways 
and on private properties within the City; 

WHEREAS, the regulations in Ordinance No. - will be codified in a new Chapter 126 of the 
Mountain Brook Municipal Code; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 2(e) and 3(c) of Ordinance No. provide that certain fees be paid by 
personal wireless service providers or applicants in connection with the review of applications, initial 
issuance and annual reissuance of permits required to construct, place, maintain and operate Facilities in 
the City; 

WHEREAS, the City Council herein amends Chapter 14 of the Mountain Brook Municipal Code 
to set forth the level of fees contemplated in Sections 2(e) and 3(c) of Ordinance No. . 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as follows: 

Section 1. 

Chapter 14 of the Mountain Brook Municipal Code is amended to add the following: 

CHAPTER 126 

SMALL CELL TECHNOLOGY FACILITIES 

Section of Code 

26- 

Description 

Permits to Place & Operate Facilities on Public Right of Way 

Permit Application & Review Fee (Ord. No. 4 2(e)(i), 
-9 -9 20 1 5) 
Initial Permit Issuance Fee per Support Structure (Ord. No. - 
?I 2(e)(ii), -, -, 20 15) 
Annual License Fee per Support Structure (Ord. No. ... - § 2(e)(lll), -, ,, 20 15) 

Fee (in dollars) 

200.00 

100.00 

500.00 



Section 2. Repealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this 
ordinance are hereby expressly repealed. 

26- 

Section 3. Severability. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held 
unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 
remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

Section 4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 
publication as provided by law.' 

Permits to Place & Operate Facilities on Private Property 

Pennit Application & Review Fee (Ord. No. 4 3(c)(i), 
-, -, 20 15) 
Initial Permit Issuance Fee per Support Structure (Ord. No. - 
0 3(c)(ii). , -, 2015) 

ADOPTED: The - day of , 2015. 

200.00 

100.00 

Council President 

APPROVED: The - day of , 2015. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council OF the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as its meeting held on , 201 5, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting, 
and published by posting copies thereof on , 2015, at the following public places, which copies 
remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Hall, 56 Church Street 
Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road 

Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2805 Cahaba Road 
The Invitation Place, 3 150 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT D e l e t d :  SOUTIIERN LICIIT, LLC. 
II M l i a b i l i t ~ a m m w  I 

THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made by and between crown-;:, -' 
G East LLC. a Delaware limited liahilitv comwnv lformerlv known as Crown Castle; - - _ 

NG East Inc.. a Delaware cornration) (hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and the CITY 1 -  
OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation (the "City") as of the a 

Effective Date {as defined below). The Company and {he City separately may be referenced ,' 
herein as a "Parly." and collectively as "Parties." # I t  

,' ,' I ' 

RECITALS I 

:/ 
! 11 ! 

W-HEREAS. pursuant to Ordinance - -  - - -  - No. .- lhk Cjly-r-e_euf_a!es-t& 
antenn; an; -acs&ciited "eauhrneni that-ifiinslalld in connection with 
Network on or about supnort structures located on the uublic right of way,a 
prow flies throughout the =it& . . . . . . . . . . , , . . , . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

,WHEREAS, - - - - - - - - - + - - - - +  the Compqy's selection of locations to install i ~ a u i o m n ~  and serve its ', - - * - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

customers, and its construction and operation olcauiumcnt used in Ss$mi[l ai~e 
the public r i ~ h t  of wav_are --- .  subject - - - -  tothe_ adyanc? qprpy;llLof,lhe_ C~ty&_e-c_x_e~c_i~e_ 
powers. and the Company must comply with all laws, codes and regulations, inclu 
- * * * -_ * * * * * * * * * *__ * - - * - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

w - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - r - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

WHEREAS, the Company will not use the Small Cell-Network 
provide cable television services, channels, or programming to end users in th 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms and conditions hcrcin and subicct to thc 
Comoanv's comdiance with the Ordinance, the City grants the Company a non-exclusive 
[ranchis; for it to' construct, maintain and operate itsSmall CcIJ ~ y ~ c , ~ I ; ~ c , c = i ! s ~ e ~ u i  

na the-Riahtsof-Wavnd . . . - . . . in the . ,. mqnner ,. . ,. approvedin,adya~ . bykh~ City, - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
NOW, THEREFORE, in considcration or the Recitals above, the res 

representations, promises, concessions, terms and conditions contained herein, the rcce I sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parlies agree as follows, 

- . -  
b,,m ~ ~ ~ t :  ~ o l d  

, 

Font: T[mes New 
Roman, 12 pt 

Deleted: scpcmbc: 2 ~ 1  

IDdcted: a privalely.ou.ned firm ltw, 
4 

Deleted: various high budwidth 
m i r e s  

' D d a  a fiba optic line umsmistion I 
svslem that the Comnmv will construct. 

WHEREAS, in J&~!her2013 the - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  Alabama Public Service Commission awarded the ! 
Company's oredecessor Crown Castle NG &st Inc. a certificate to provide competitive local 

I 
1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms, words and phrases 

shall havc the meanings set forth below. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in 
the singular number shall include the plural number, and words in the plural number shall 
include the singular. 

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ o n ~ p u b ' i c n a h u O f  

IDdchd: I 
exchange telecommunications services in this State; t ;  

' .' Deleb~d: c 
,;/ 

WHEREAS, the Company intends to provide &~o-~~y@_c;tjo_n_s-s_efv_ice yii!i<i_nft m e  1 L: -': W- 
1 
1 ..""--. 

-11 Ihehfiher-h;lsed5)!0~~nplly~;',8~~~~l- 
Facilities and @ui~rncnt lhai mav be owned hv the Commnv or third mnies to serve j ~ _ , ' -  - -  Del- (=idcfi~hc~in)~which 

m y  incarpante third party quipmcn~ 
customct-~; a d k r s o n i ~  ~ i r e l e i ~ - ~ ~ i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ e ~ ~ , W h O I ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ I h i C i t ~ ~  - -- . -  - - - -  1 1 1 1 r 1 1 1 11 I - 11 1 - - ope~~ta l  exclusively by Cmwn CJ~IIC 

1:- * 



b. ~'Compp?yVI means - Crown - - - - - Cade - - - - - NG - - - Eastt,L,LC, - - - - - - -  or any - - A -  entity - - - - - - - - - - -  thu  succecdr Wjir 1-1 
Castle NG East LLC in  accordance with the provisibuis of this Agreement. , Deleted: southem Light, LLC , 

D d a :  Soulhcm Light. LLC 

cm4''~!!?o~efI . .!!en! - A _F~?Y! - !C - - ~ _ h _ ~ !  - ! h ~  - _ C _ T ~ P _ ~ ~ Y  - -@r.!iP_e! - -il_ny- - - 
Telecommunication services to or from, or between locations in the City, or anv rrcrsonal 
wireless service wovider or othcr cusromcr to whom i t  w.ovides ocallows the use of Ikuipmenr. 

gE[r$ctIv$-Dntc>sh;lll, m~!? the . - -  first_day A of - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  the month after  he datc last cxcculed - -  by - - -  a - - Deleted: . 4 * h m ~ i v c  SmlIight 
P o l ~ ~  shall man my s~rc~llight pole that 

&- 4 "Franchlsct* - - - - - - - - - means - - , , . the - - ~ulhor~xa!ion 
pcrniit, license or olhcr righi to construct, o p ~ a t c  and 
ROW at locations ruqucsted by the Company in which its intended 
advance by the City and performed in compliance wilh 

I including bul not limilud to. land use and zoning 

g:Fiychise Feu" muons 
locating, maintaining and operating 
the ROW. 

'tcrm ha8 indiucie. but norde.ihnited to. the foll 

i. All  recurring or non-rccurrinp p!gnu_e_s-reee_iye_d_ ?jr_h_ fc_specl_lp-tb - 
provision of anyseeyice . . !eat - -  utiv~?_thf Systgm; - , ;,-;,-:,- - - - - - - - - - - -_-_ 

, \  i 

'\ \ . Fonnatkd: lndenk LeR t7, 
ii. All  recurringp[r_lqn-r_u_c_u~jn~ gnuact - - - - - - - - - - -  fees, usqe - - - - - - - - -  based fees, clygcs, , -:_:--.-; ,!, \,'\, Hanglng: o.2sw, ~ight: 0.7 

or consideration of any kind or nature (including without limitation, '* '\ D ~ W  ormn-recurring 

cash, crcdils, property, and in-kindj_on~ib_u!i~~s]- ~e_cciv_c~J -by _the - A ; A ;, c---' , \. ; . DeleCed: Tclecommunic~lion or 01hu s 

Company in connection with its utilization of the System or provision of 
its facilities or Fauittmcnt in the City; . . . 

\ DeleLed:~ 



iii. A11 recudne and non-recumin, revenue arising from or attributable to 
the provision of any &ujnmc!t l,ht. is-cojstr;c_'ed. I _ e ~ s ~ d & ~  _by_t_hg - - - - - - - - 
Company or nrovided-to-any. to its customers or to prrsonal wimless 
ser-vice-providers in connection with the provision of Sefligg p r  -.,,,_ . . Meted: or 
omration of the Svstem. 

Ddekd: . Gross Revenues do not include the following: 

i. uncollectible fees: provided that all or part of uncollectible fees that are 
written off as bad debt, but subsequently collected, less expenses of 
collection, shall be included in Gross Revenues in the period collected: 

knnatted: Indent: LeR: 0.7", 
Right: 0.7" I 

ii. insufficient funds (returned checks): 

iii, late payment fees; 

iu. discounts, promolions, refunds, rebates. and other price adjustments that 
reduce the amount of compensation received by Company from its wcted: rn 

if&:{ I 
C"StOmerSi - - - & - & .. . - A A . - A i.-- * ;. . . . . .. . . . . . ,., , * , , ,A. 

v. the amounts billed by the Company to its Customers to recover ples, ad 
valorem, or other tms of "add on" taxes, levies, or fees ..calculated hv _ _ _ _ _ _ A _ +. - -  
gross recei~ts or moss revenues which might .havc..to he paid o~ 
collected for fedcsl. ..sta&. or Iocat eovernment, or surcharges imposed 
on them in connection with the provision of services, including the 

Fonnatlcd: Font: Tlrnes New 
Roman, 12 pt I 

Franchise FCC and any other tax, fec or charge of general applicability 
collecrcd by Company from its customers for pass through lo the City or , Deleted:. 1 
any other governmenla1 entity or agencyi - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - _ _ - - - _ - * - - _,.' 

aifl from the sale o_f Formatte& Font: Times New 

an asset: or Roman, 12 pt - 1 
(0el- mymnts received by the 1 

or l i ~ n s e  kes mid hv the Comnanv on behalf of a nersonal - - - - - - - :: company i r i k  cons~ruction or IICI~; { .. Iacili~ici. wireless service nrovider or olher customer nursuant lo Scction 2IeI o f  - .. .. 

the Ordinance for which that urovider or customer reimburses the" Formaw: Indent: Left 0.7", 
HilMiM? 0.25". M0ht: 0.7" 

j, "Munici~al Fa~ i l i t i e s "~mns  aii9 (lit+-ownzd Streetlieht Polcb Traffic Sipgl-Pclcs toed Exchange CMicr that provider 
basic lelepl~~hanc urviccs. amng olher 

or vther Cjt-+owned r~&s- a w ! u r c l  !ocated -wi!hj~ !he ROW ~ f i  -mav[ekr& -such fccilitiei>\, 
in the sinpular or duwl. as amropriate to the contextin:which used. 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

a "Person" means any natural or corporate person, business rssociation or other business L-----------&- - - - - - - - - *  - - * -  ,,*,,,,-**,,-,-,-,,,c------------- 

entity including, but not limited to, a partnership, sole proprietorship. political subdivision, 
public or private agency or any kind, utility, successor or assign of any of the foregoing, or any 
other legal entity, 



&,'ROW" or "Rights-of-Way" means the surface and space above and below any the 
A & - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  ----=IF 

public n'gha of way, streets, avenues, highways, roads and dedicated municipal easemenis within 
the City's carpurale boundaries. 

- 
; ' Ddwm t 

/ 

1 "Service" or "Servicm" shall mean all services ' 
w- '.S"UII Cell Network" 
; mvrr one or more of lhc pmlaol. receives com~nsation from its customers or Iwrsonal W ~ ~ C ~ C S S  service ~roviders with r c s ~ c l  lo , sponic.f ibobdoptiml nrtworks 

,,' in"i;yprDvidrd;;ComPanv;~y=y"g;; comaensation received hv the Cornnanv hv it nrovidine or allowina the use of ,its buinment hv , myb,wnnl.leucd.orcon~mlkJby 
pcrsonal wireless servicc arovidurs. carriers or i ~ s  other customers to enable them to serve t h ~  : ~cOm~YOrthinlp;micrLidpany 

Equipment. opemud enclurivdy by ik -- . , , . , , . . . . . . - " . - - . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - & & - - - - - - - r-- - - s - - - - - - - Company lo =we its c " s l o ~ r s  in Ih.2 ' 

Cityand is movillnl by the Commy to . . 
m "Small Cctl Network" or "Suskm" meanq pne_ or more of the 

h;iscd.oPt~~i~etw~~~s-whi~h miiinio&;aiE small Cell 

. r  I Company for whih il keives - 1 
com&!n$alion from ia cuslonurr or "Small Cell Technolow - - - - -  Facilities" shall havc the meanini! ascribed to it in the pcrsorwl wirclcrr ~Nirrprovilkrs fi <- - - - . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
rtrpxt to its opcpen~ions in the city, 
including Telecommunicnlions s e r v k  

m y  Council of Mountain Brook on or ahout .2015. Ihe Comvlv bv il nmvidinr or allowinr 
t ' , '  he use i r  l i  G u i k n r  by knom! 

S~r::tfighlPo!~~- r;ha!lmgananystan$a[d-d~sign or c o n v e n t i o n a l ~ ~ r a l a s g  ' wimkss service pmvikrr, csricrr or its " 
other turtomerr to enable them to provide metal. o?wooodw PIC used primarily fpr street l i h t i n ~  ~unascs .  and includes mles owiei by "',, 

;:, lhct rrviccr lo ~ h c  public.! 
thc City* 

~ ~ ~ e l c c a m m u n i c ~ t ~ i o n ~ ~ ~ m ~ _ a n s  !hc_ ~_r~ns~~i~s_i~n.~bc~~ccn~or~a_n~ong~poin~~speci~ed by - 
thc user, of information of the user's choosing (c.g., dala, vidco,yqife or othcr sip& - wilhout - - - - - - '. 
change in thc lbrm or content of the information as sent and received. 

O f f i c  Simpl-Pole..or Signal" shall meanany pole or signal used nrimarilv to s u w  
#,&, - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

vehicular or pk%slrian traffic siEndimtinn. a &  0 1 s  and sinnab owncd hv the\ 6, 

Cirv. .-------------------------------------------------------------- 
2. Grant of Authority. 

JB) A_CCC!_S -LO -ROW. - Pufsu;~nt- !o- !hc_tcfi+ -cp_ndikip_ns, ??P un$crs!andings h c r ~ i n d -  '\ Formatted: ~ont:  NO^  old 
1 

provided the Commnv comdics with lhc rerluiremcnls in the Ordinance, the city' hereby gnnls ', \ 

to the Company a non-exclusive Franchise to construct, maintain and opcratc its ,f_mdl_ Cell- 
'\, ,¶ 

Network and associated Eauinmenr on c~@?g the ROW in the City. - - - - - - - - - - - - - - . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  . ' bnnated: Underltne 
-L '. t 

{b) Attachment to Municiual Facilities Provided the Commnv 
.rmittinp rcyuiremenls in the 

c e  ROW and to locate. 
reinstall,. relocate. and re~lacc Eauiamcnt in or on 

Deleted:T 



the rieht lo draw electricity for the owration of its Eaui~ment from the wwer source. if any. that , 
isnssociated with each such attachment to Municipal Fa - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - / * *  

jcl Attachment to Third-Party Protmlv. Suhiect to ohtainin~ the mrmission of the- 
ownerIs1 of the affwkd Prowrlv and mvided the Comuanv comulies with the Ordinance. the 
City hereby authorizes and mrmits the Comuany to enter uuon the ROW and to locate. ulace, 

s e BI;CIICh.. reinstall. r e l o w  and redace such number of 
auinment in or on noles or other structures located within the ROW owned hu ~ublic utility 
comaanics or othcr nronertv owners as mav be permitted bu the whlic utilitv companv or 
prowrtv owner, as thc case mav be. Where third-party nrouertv is not available for attachment 
of Equiurnent.. the..Companp map request-to J ROW and s- 

by the City in the manner set forth in the Ordinance. 
0'' 

r - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - J  

3. Limitations on Access to ROW. 1 1  
,' 1 1  
, 1 1  

/ ' 1 Italic, Underline 

1 ' I 
I 1  I The Company agrees and acknowledges the following limitations, conditions and ;; ,, 

understandings apply with respect to the - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - *  1 1  I I 
I  I 

I t 1  
I 1  I 

W T h e  request of the Company to utilize panicular locations along the ROW in the I I 
I ' 

City,~hall he.suhiec! f o _ t h c v i c w  and agproval of !h_e-<i!y&- - - -I ; 
suhjcci6the ~ o r n ~ a n i ' s  comnliance with the 0rdin&k -gee" a!F firovided in the ,' 
Ordinance, the amroval mocess forlhe alacement of all facilities and Eouiprncnt in the- - - ,', - - 
ROW. will be consislent with that used for similarlv situated franchisees of the C i t ~  _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ - - 

h 

iM.$:, _nat_u~c, ,mm!e?._ g~d_ _m?d_e_ +oJ_ i,n,s!a!ljn~ _o_r- m?@a_i?ing- any -line.! -c,ab!e, - _ - r\ ' 8 .  

&uinye_nt ,yr- ;rga~i@s_ _c_oln~_ri_silng- ~Jm~! l -Cg l !  -Ne_t_wpk -mus_t-b_c_ pproved in ':\ 
- - - - - - - - - -  > ' \  advance by the City, and such amrovol is subicct lo Company's compliance with the- ;, \, 

Ordinance. The intent of the Parties is to comul_v~all~a~licahle, federal..state..and-local 
\;\ \, 

1 0 t l a t i o n s  ,\, 
imnosed hv the FCC and the Ordinance; I I t', 

- a \  

-,' 

,: 
," 

I ,',' 
, ' I ,  ' I  

,'I# 

bullets or numbering - 

D e l a  m y  
I 

I 

Formatled: Left 
1 

Ddeted: W. consistcnl wilh the 
rrquinmnlr tbi the City impares on 
similzr iasllationr mde by other 
uliliticr h t  use and onupy Lhc ROW.¶ ' 

Deleted: mua bc nppmwd in advvre 
bv 

Form- Fonk Bold 
5 

4 

1 

11 . I Formatbed: Normal,Style 28, 
.!I . :! indent: LeR: 0.3", Rlght: 0.3", No 

Deletcd: cxccpr ihe it i s  agreed that no 
urning or planning b o d  p&t. 
v;uiulce, conditional u r  permit, or rite 
plan permil. or [heir equivalent under lbc 
City's ordinances, coder, or laws, rb l l  be 
q u i d  for the ins~ollrtion of the 
Company's Equipment imhlled in the 
City's ROW. unless such a 

DelctEd: has becn m u i d  for 

D d a !  by all o h  occupma of the 
ROW. i~luding but not limited to the 
ItEC. utilities, ancl lotd cable 
pmvi&r(s) 

b 
Fonnatbed: Indent: LeR: 0.3", 
Rlght: 0.S, No bullets or numbering 

farmatbed: Normal,Style 28, 
Indent: Left: 0.3", Rlght: 0.3" 

Delebed: I 
1 

U T h e  Company shall not install, expand a exlend the Sq~?!l-Cql! y~!yqr&-yi_tho_u_t- - 
first submiltine maps or plats showine the locations and tvrrs of Eaui~ment intended to 
be installed at all locations. obtaining appropriate permits from the City, and complying 
with any conditions related to the use of such permits, including burying any 
underground facilities at depths below the grades of any streets as may be required by 
the City;,- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -------- - - - - - - - - - --_--- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - . .  . 

-. . 
r . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - +  r: 

U T h e  nature and type of the Company's intended operations along the ROW must *\\\, \ 

,\ , ' comply with applicable laws, codes or regulations;, , , , _ ., _ - - . - . - - - ., ., _ _ - _ _ _ - _ _ L \ , \  \: r , \ \  

m$-gr_a~!i_s_np! piil_usi_ve.- 2: _C:l!y-reserves .--._.-__- the righ! ! o _ g ~ !  !h_e_u_s_e_o_F!h_e_lt?_W_ ,- - _ 
to any other person at any lime and for any lawful purpose; ,_ _ - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - _ _ _ 
-,is_ Agre_emen! sha!i-nnp_t_b_e-cp_nstl~_edjo~c_re_a_te_ n y  dghts_b_eycn_d_ fil c~~_r~s_s_t_cr_m~,~ - - 
conditions and periods: 

0elCbCd:quipmnl I 
Deleted: Syskm 

Del- : pmvided I 



u?,app~?v-ing ?!y inJe_+cj Co-mpany-operations - - - - - - - - -  along particularpoints - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  of the ROW, ~om.-,,d: Indent: L ~ R ;  

the City does not represent or warrant to the Company that the City holds dtle, right or z:*- 0 , 3 G k &  0 1 x 1  

interest in or to the ROW at those points, or that it has the right or authority to grant the Delebed: q I 
Company the right to conduct its intended operations thereon. The Company 
acknowledges and agrees that it has the burden and responsibility to assess and 
determine its right lo operate in the requested locations in advance of the installation of . . 

its $mall Cell Network, -Fu_c&, &City - - - - - - - - - - - -  does not make any - - - - - - -  warra~ty- ( e _ x p ~ z  -or- - - - , - , D e l e :  SF- 1 
implied) to the Company concerning the sufficiency, condition or appropriateness of the - -  . 
ROW for the uses inicnded by the company; 

&The Company acknowledges that utilities or other persons or entities may hold or 
claim rights to utilize the same sections of the ROW in which thc Company intends to 
operate, and that the Company exclusively is responsible for designing, planning, 
coordinating, installing its Small ?nd conducting its oprations in a 
manner that docs not unduly interfere with the operations of those other entities; 

UThis  Agreement shalt not be construed to deprive the City of any rights, regulatory or 
police powers or other privileges under Stale law which it now has, or may hereafter 
have, to regulale the use and control of its ROW or provide for the safety and welhre or 
the public. By granting this Franchise and approving this Agreement, the City does not 
surrender or to any extent waive, impair or relinquish any of those regulatory powers 
and rights, or to charge reasonable compensation for such use. By entering this 
Agreement, the Company agrees and acbowlcdgcs that all such rights, police or other 
regulatory powers shall be in full force and efrect during its term, that the Franchise 
granted il hereunder is subject to the exercise by the City of those police powers, and 
that it will comply with all such cxisting, applicable laws and ordinances that exist 
today or hereinafter may be enacted. In the cvcnt or any conflict bctwecn the provjsions 
of this Agreement and any present or future laws, regulations or ordinances by which 
the City exercises its police powers, the provisions of those laws, regulations and 
ordinances shall control and take prcccdcncc in resolving thc conflict; 

Right: 0.3., Space After: 0 pt, Line 
spadng: single, No bullets or 
numbering 

I ace - g r ? c a f  !h~-Fr!y~:his! hqej? phqll not be ,con$.r"cd !o conv~y. be!tov, pr---,. 
transfcr to Company any title, easemcnt or othcr permanent property interest in the 
ROW or other public property in or on which it conducts operations; 

I 
WThis Agreement does not establish any priority for the use of the ROW by the 
Company, or my present or future franchisees, permit holders or other users of the 
ROW. In the event of any dispute as to the priority or use or the ROW, thc first priorlly 
shall be to the public generally, the second priority shall lie with the City, the third 
priority with the State of Alabama and its political subdivisions in the performance of 
thcir various functions, and themalter, os between franchisees and other permit holders, 
as determined by the City in the exercise of its police and other powers conferred on it 
by the State of Alabama; 

_ . . 
m o t h i n g a i n  !his Section or c!s~whc~-in_thg Agr{gen_I_s_hal! bg-~_onst~t_o-I jmi_l___,~.+ - 

the Company's rights- to access and use its own or general utility easements in 
1 



accordance with the t e r n  of such easemen& so long as such use is consistent with 

I applicable law and regulations. isludinr. h u ~  not limitcd to. the Ordinance: and - , , , , , , ,L ~debed:. 5 
I WThis Agreement does nor confer upon the Company any right to use conduit that is 

now owned by the City or may hereafier bc acquired. 
Fonna- Right: 0'' 

c----- 4 ~eerating-~_e_qu_ir_e_nle_n-ts - - - -  _and_Sln_@n_rd_s, - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - '---R - - - - kleted: 3 

The following understandings apply with respect to the Company's use of the Franchise 
and its operations within the City: 

(a)-At all times the Company shall keep and maintain the Small Cell Network&---:--- 
E m i n  a wfe, suitable, and substantial condition, and in good order and repair. 
m - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

rJ~The Company shall provide safe passageway for vehicles and pedestrians through, 
in and around its work sites. It funher shall comply with all rules of the road or other 
laws related to operation or vehicles along the ROW. Except in the case of an 
emergency or with the approval of the City Engineer (or other designated City official), 
thc Company agrees not to conduct its operations in a manner that interferes with usual 
vehicular or pedestrian travel on or the maintenance of the ROW, nor shall the 
placement of its facilities or its operations unreasonably limit the visibility of vehicular 
andfor pedestrian traffic on or along them. 

I (c)_Thc Company shall conduct its operations in a manner that does not unreasonably 
interfere with the rights and reasonable convenience of persons who own p~opeAy 
adjoining the ROW. The Company acknowledges that it may enter private property 
only as permitted by applicable law, or as allowed by the owner of such private 
property, for the purpose of performing its operations thereon, - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

&The ., Company . . shall construct, theSmal1 Cell Network ;1nd-~erlbrm - - - - - - - -  its oecrations - - - - - - - - - -  in 
accordance wilh all applicable federd-staie-and hi laws, ordinances, codes, and 
regulations pertaining thercto, including, but not limited to, the following: any building 
code, electric code or ordinances that are now in effect or may hereafter be adopted by 
the City; laws and regulations that prolecl workers and are intended to promote safety in 
the workplace; laws and regulations and that protect the environment, air or waler 
quality or the public health, safely and welfare (including, without limitation, those 
issued by the Alabama Department of Environmental Management and Environmental 
Protection Agency); and regulations of the Federal Communicalions Commission. 

I a e  work to be done under this Agreement, and the restoration of the ROW as - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
required herein, must be completed within the dates specified in any permits authorizing , 
the work. The Company shall perform the work according to the standards and with the 
materials specified or approved by the City Engineer, or other City official. 

I ~h_c-Compa_ny-sh_a!l repajr_ a_@ r_ep!ace _spc_tip_ns pf !he-ROW ~dist_u~b_e_d-d_u_e_t~- - - - 
the installation, removal, relocation, maintenance and repair of its-,- _ _ -' - . 



a n d ~ s t o ~ ~  ,those s c c _ l i ~  tq q condition . . .. comp;rrable . - - -  - -  to - -  the - A - A - - - - - - - - - -  condition cxisting - - - - -  +-i 
immediately prior to such disturbance to the satisfilction of the City. 

Phenever  reasonably practical, the Company agrees to place its facilities a + - - - Formatted: DWTNorrn, Indent: Left: * 
on, within or adjacent lo the facilities and easements of utilities and other 0.3: ~lght: 0.3", NO bullets or 

numbertg 
fra..k..m,b,, or other areas used by them, I - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  Deleted: q 

Formatbed: OuHead2, Nor*, &W,h.en.the Company constructs or configures its$rn111 Ce!l-N:~yo~k, it agrees to >,,- Indent: 0,3., Right: 0,3- . . . . . . . . . . . . . - . . - - - - - - - . - - - - - - - - 
install its f;;cilities underground in those pans of the city where existing telephone and ' Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.3', 
electric services are both underground, In areas where either telephone -'--',-i- ' ~ ~ g h t :  0.3", NO bulets or numbering ': \ 
utility facilities are installed aerially at thc time of construction of t h e ,  - - - - - -  - _ _ _ _ , n'Oet-h.. 

, the Company may install its facilities aerially with the understanding that, at '1 , Deleted: Syslcm 
sucn lime as the existing aerial facilities are required lo be placed underground by the . 1 

Deleted: Sys~cm 
City, the Company shall likewise place its facilities underground. If a site requested by 
the Company for the location of facilities or JEPuipmgnt [ajs_cs _cgnce!ns_ _abo_gp.ub!ic - - - - _ - DeletEd: ~ U W  'I 
heallh, safety, and weIrare, the City and Company agree to work together to identify 
alternative localions, if available, that satisfy any technical specifications or limitations 
of those facilities or& 

1 
. .  . . 

a L e a s l  Disruptive Technology. The Company agrees to construct and maintain its i- - - 
Indent: Left: 0.3", Rlght: 0.3', No Srnel!Ccll Network - - - - in - - a - manner - - - - - - resulting - - - - - injhe - le;lst-?mounl of damag? an! disrup!ion 

to the ROW. To that end. the Company will use directional boring in all areas where no - . 
conduit exists. Further, the Company will bc required to use trenchless technology for 
any portian of conslruction or maintenance projects which lie beneath the pa6d or 
improved portion of any roadway to which this Agreement applies, unless otherwise 
approved by the City. The City Engineer (or other appropriate official) may require 
trenchless technology in other locations whcrc circumstances prevent or make open-cut 
methods impractical. Any requests by Ihc Company to utilize thc open-cut or trench 
method for construction or maintenance must be approved by the City Engineer (or 
other City official). 

Formatted: Indent! Left: 0.3", 

UThe  Company shall have thc right to remove, trim, cut and keep trues and shrubbery ~lght: 0 3 ,  Space After: o pt, NO 
Lulkts or numbering 

clear of theSmall A - - - Cell - - - Network - - -.--A- - at - points - - - - in - - and - - - along - - - - thc - - public - - - - - w_ays;proyidcd !ha! - - - - -  - - Ddcted: Sys*rn 
Company shall perform thosu opcralions only having first consulting with thc City's 
arborist (or other official who is designated lo act in that capacity), and shall comply 
with any local rules, codcs and rugulations that pertain to that work. The Company 
shall reasonably compensate the City for any damagcs, in such amounts as determined 

''a 
by the City, caused by trimming, cutting or removing trees or shrubbery, or shall, at its 
own expense, replace all trees or shrubs damaged as a result of any construction, 
installation, repair or maintenance of the ,$ma!! -Cc_l! -Ne_two~k -u_n_der$ken- by - t h ~  - - - - ., .. - 4 Peleacd:wtcn 1 
Company to the satisfaction of the City. 

&ce . . .-  Company shall & & - A -  bear all - A - costs - -  - -  associated - - -  - -  - - - - - -  wilh - the - -  - insullatip_n! - - - - - -fgpa_ir -and- - - _ , - - 
maintenance of its& C$!l-Netyclk ;I@ its&uin-mcnt - including, - - -  - - - - A -  but not - - - - - -  limited~o- A - - _ , - 
(I)  all expense to repair and restore the ROW lhal is disturbed due to those operations, - % 



and (2) all expense incurred in removing or relocating any portion of the ,S-mall- C$!l- - - - + 4 D d e t E d r w m  1 
Netw-ork or facilities constructed when required by this Agreement. 1. 

section of the ROW, and any eleclric facility, sewer, water main, fire alarm, police 
communication or traffic control facility. 

I M I n  conducting its operations. thc Company further agrees to: 

( I )  comply with ail applicable sections of the National Electric Safety Code; 

(3) utilize reasonable, commonly accepted methods and devices for 
preventing failurcs and accidents which are likely to cause damage, injuries 
or nuisances to the public or damages to property owned by third persons; 

(3) install and maintain the $mall Ccl Network iln_ such m~nne_t- t_h_at_ Its - 
operations will not interfere with any improvements of the City or of a 
public utility serving the City. 

Space After; 0 pt, No b u m  Or 

- , A 2 Deleted: S p ~ c r n  

(4) perform its operations in accordance with good engineering practices * - A  - Formatteck OutHead2, None. 

and standards for firms providing like operations in the Company's Indent; Left: 0 7 ,  Right: 0+7" I 
industry, and in an orderly and workmanlike manner;, ,, , , , , ,, 

, , , . - - . . - -  
(5) perform all its operations through qualified maintenance and ' *- - formatted: Indent: I&& 0.7' 

construction personnel. Further, the Company shall maintain a force of 
employees at all times sufficient to provide safe, adequate and prompt 

- -E 
service and mainlenancc of thc&pall Cell Ne1work;-a>!- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - {oelebed: SYWP 1 
(6) not perform its operations in a manner that obstructs the rights-of-way 
so as to interfere with the natural, free and clear passage of waler through 
the gutters, drains, ditches or other waterways. 

~ e _ l o c ~ t ~ o _ n _ ? r  Rempval, of small. Cell-Netwark-;rlkqu_e_s~_ o[ !h_e_CCy, ->_e-C!ty- - - 
reserves the right - t i '  deternline i 6 i r  in ~ ~ : < e ~ ~ < n ~ ~ ~ ~ - l f i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ n , - $ - i ~ j n - t h ~ ~ u b ~ ~ -  - - - 
interest to improve or modify its ROW in a manner that requires the displacement, 
modification, relocalion or removal of thesmall Cell Net @om _ay prea_lr!o_n&the _ 
ROW. In any such case, the City shall use its reasonahlegff,p-- - - - 
_a reasonahlq-equivdenl.~I l~~e location. Upon its receipt of reasonable notice from 
the City of that determination (which notice shall be not to be less than forty-five (45) 
days except where emergency conditions require shorter notice), the Company, at its 
own expense, shall protect, support, temporarily disconnect, relocate lo another section 
of the ROW designated by the City, or totally remove from the ROW any property, 

I fa-~ll!t~c,s-?[ !h_e_ _Cp_p>_ny -v&e_n_ ~?qu_i@, 0': ~qu_e_st_e_d- by -the_ -Ci!y, - - - - - , - {~eleaed: quipmnl 1 
Jefferson County or the State of Alabama for reason of traffic conditions, public safety, 
street abandonment, freeway and strect construction, change or establishment of sueer 



grade, installation of scwcrs, drains, gas or water pipes, electrical or 
telecommunications lines when such relocation work is being done directly by or for the 
City, Jefferson County or the State. Should the Company refuse or fail to relocate or 
remove its @uinme_nt _tmd-fgcili!ies as_ prpvjdcd, fpr herein within forty-five (45). day! . - - - -  - A - {odeted: qulpment 

after written notification, the City, Jefferson county or  &ale shall have thk -righi lo do 
3 

such work (or cause it to be done) and the reasonable cost themof shalt be chargeable to 
the Company. . . ,,.. . . 

I -- -  {Formatted: Indent: Left: 1". No 1 
& Effective Date/Term(Rencwal. b a t s  or numbedng - - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - Ddcted: 4 J 
This Agreement will become cffcclivc on the Erfcclive Date, and thereafter continue in 

cffcct for a term of Ten (10) years (the "Initial Term"). Following rhc expiradon of this Initial 
Term, this Agreement and the Franchisc granted herein may be renewed and extended upon 
mutual agrccmenl of the Parties for an additional term of Ten (10) years upon application to lhc 
City if (i) the Ageemel  previously has not b a n  terminated or the Franchise revoked as 
provided hereunder, (ii) thc Company has failhfully performed its obligations hereunder. and (iii) 
 he application and extension complies with applicable federal, slate or local law, 

Dele- 5 

Deleted: Llunicipal Facility Fed 

I Granchise Fee. Duringthe !er!t~. af this Ag~cg!r '~~~-@q C*rip_ay !MI! p y  > . - -. DM a. M hlunicipIF~iIily 
- . - - -  

fee of five percent (5%) of lhe Gross Rewnucs (the 'Franchise Fee"). Company shall make: 
these paymenls within fifteen (15) days after the end of the preceding quarter 01 each year of the I 
term of this Agreement. At the time of each such payment, Ihe Company also will furnish City 
with a rcport or statement thar, in a summary form, discloses the total Gross Revcnucs derived 

I from lhe ,Smu!l -C:l! Nr!y"r& - - - - - -  for LC prcvious - - - - - -  qu_aner, - - - - -  the me~hodology - - - - - - - - - - -  used by Compiyy-to ', 
calculate lhc Franchlsc Fee and other bases upon which Company detcrmincd the amount of each1, : 
payment. . The Parties aarec- thgt. if the Cornnanv nus thc annual license fees that are : : 
contemplated in Section 2tcHiii) of thc Ordinance and it,k? not rcimhurscd hv acrsonal wircless : 5 
survicc woviders or its other customers for those paymenis Ithc "Unrcimhursc.d License. Fee : : 
Pavmentlslwl. thc Franchisc Fuc ~auable to thc Citw durinc a eiven auartcrlv neriod may he : $ 
raluccd & the total amount of Uw: Unrcimhursul License F ~ C  F-avmcnts oaidbi tho ~ o m h n v  ', $ 
durin~ that ~ r i o d :  providud that if L ~ C  Company is suhsutlucntlv reimhurscd hv a provider or ', $ 
customer for said annual license fees paid by thc Company thal nrcviously have h q n  crudite.d.as ' ' 

~ c ~ ~ ~ ~ . ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ Y r o r  
F~ililtes.llleCompm~rlwll p y ~ o i h t  ~~~~' rK"he Fc6"in 

Dollus 
(S,.~~lror~heurcorwch~unicipl 

~ i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ l ~ ~ . ~ m n t  
~ g m m e n t .  Thcoggrcg=tcAnnwl I& 
Wi'""SPCC'~oc*hy~or~hemdwI 
be an omounl qual to  he number or 
Quiprnn~inslallationronMunicipd 

$ ~ $ ~ ~ ~ ~ , $ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  
Frc,pmmld~rppmpri~lc.~ndshl1be 

~ 4 ~ , ~ y ~ ~ k ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ h ~ ~ ' ~  
~ f r c ~ d v c ~ a t e .  for~heputporeot 
caku'"i~thc"nuo'krcmi~tmc~rll 

an Unmimhursed License Fee Pavment durin~ a prior auartcrlv mumcnt ~en'od. the Com~anv 
will remit those-reimbursed amounts to the Citv at the timc of its ncxt auarterlv ~ranchisd F& 
payment. 4 

&$ecords - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  Retention. For a rolling period _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  not less than five (5) years - _ _ _ _ _ _ t _ . _ _ _ ~  following the \lCDd-' 

creation of lhe following records, the Company agrees to retain and make the Sam available Tor \ ', 
~ ~ f o ~ ~ O ~ ~ t ~ ~ ~ ~ s o ' d ~  inspeclion by the City (or its designated representative): xr \ , 4 

,, b, Deleted: System ' ' 
i. its databases and books, reports, stalcmcnts or accounting records r \ \  r I 4 

' Deleted: b 

indicating the types of services provided zo Customers during the term t,' WW: e 

or the Agreemenl: weted: 
. - 



ii. its databases and books, reports, statements and accounting records 
indicating the revenues charged and collected for the services provided 
to Customers during the Agreement; and 

iii. all records, reports or other data generated, used or reviewed by the 
Company to compute its Gross Revenues or in the process of calculating 
the amounts of Franchise Fees paid to the City. 

1 & _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - - - _ - -  Audit of Records. The Company _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  acknowledges _ _ _ _ _ _ _  and agr_ees _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ - _  that, to the extec- _ - - - 
necessary to ensure proper payment of Franchise Fees or any other amounts owed City - -  
hereunder, the City (or its designated representative), upon the provision of reasonable advance 

I 
notice to the Company, shell have the right during the Term of the Agreement or within one year 
following its expiration or termination to audit, examine, review and receive copies of the 
records listed above in subpart (b), At its expense, the Company agrees to furnish access to these 

- - -  

records and reasonably cooperate with City in any such audit or review. 

I -The _ _ _ _ _  City's ...___ acceptance _ _ _ _ _ _  of guarterly _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _  Franchise Fee payments - - - _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ - - _ _  shall not be construed - - - -  as a A -  

waiver, release, accord or satisfaction of any claim that the City might have related to the I 
Company's obligation for those payments, or be construed as an agreement that thc amount of 
any such payment is correct. 

I 
, Dd&d:e 

The City acknowledges that, on the Comqany~bi!l~ il. Cu>!o-me!!.Jhe ~$+mpa_"y_,:- 1 wM1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
separately may identify and subsequently pass through the Franchise Fee and other governmenl- 
imposed taxes, taxes. fees, or surcharges payable and collected from them in connection with the Dclebcd: r 

its provision of services. J . '  ,' ' O e l w  

,, Forrnarted: trident: Left O.SH, 

I 
" ,' Numbered + Level: 1 + Nurnberlng Jt- C_thcr-Rcppyl_s, I_n_!dPllio_!tp_other_ref?rds ~!!t?*~!ai!@.. i_n_t_h!s-s_S_ec!i_onl1t!e _C_?~!P_~!Y J' , style: I, 2,3, ... + start at: 7 + 

agrees to furnish the City an annual financial stalement on or before April l a  of each year, or at ; Alignment: kft + Aligned at: 1" + 
any time upon request of the City after thiny (30) days written notice. Such statement shall show ; ,Tab after: OM ' Indent at: 1m25" 

Gross Receipts received by the Company from its operations within the City for the previous D d - d > C a m ~ l i m e n u ~ P u ~ l k  

; ,' ScrviccPalhwny.l 
year. Moreover, upon request by the City and after sixty (60) days written notice, the Company , , . < ~ h ~ h c n  rrquestc~ by the ~ i l y ,  the 

shall furnish the City an annual certified audit report showing Gross Receipts received by the ,' ,' ~ ' ' ~ ; ~ & ~ ~ ; ~ 2 $ ~ i n +  
Company from its operations within the City for the previous year. , I , I rands dong the entire bykbone or t k  

r r SystemSm;rll Cell Network (whether 

dt  ,' instnllcd =idly or untkrgmund) that the I L Service t0 C U S ~ O ~ C ~ S .  , City m y  use for nwr-comrncrcinl 
I putper (the "Public Service hthw~~y'). 

,' Thc Public Service Pathway shall be During the term of this Agreement, the Company will comply with all regulations of the , innIIlledby IheComp;my 
Alabama Public Service Commission or any other applicable reguhtory agency that relate to ; ttwtwi~lpmiiunrcsvicccduscs bythe 

service standards for its Customers. Ciiy which include, but yt not limited lo. : ~k trmmission of point-to-paint 
I communicatiom between municipal. 

I ,' ~ h l s  rind otkr publicly-owncd & - Irls_uran_~~I_n_~in_ni!cn_tio_n/PrClforrlr!n~Bond-- - - - _ - - _ _ - - - - - _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ - _ - buildiqs in the City; provided tlut the 
City sbll be rrsponsible for my damages 
resulting fmm its use ofthe Public a. Insurance Requirements. For the duration of this Agreement and for limits not less smi cehhwa tht.n by than stated below, the Company shall maintain the following insurance with a company(ies) willlul or wanton n~ts or  he Ci~y. irr I lawfully authorized to do business in Alabama and reasonably acceptable lo City:, - - - - - - - - - - emplayecs ar any other pnan nc l ip  

, under its dimtion or 
c o n m l . [ l ~ N T l O N A L t Y  0MlTED.J 

Workers' Compensation As Required by Statute ', 89 
' Dd-1 



Commercirl General Liability 

Auto Liability, including coverage on 
all owned, non-ownd & rented 
vehicles 

- h - - -  

,,~h per sinl 

rn 
ge p e r o c - ~ ~  - ---, 

. - - -.- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Deleted: cb) Sl.a30Mx, Tor b d l y  
' 

aaareerte Tor injury gr- - _ _ injur)rl . or dtJlh lo MY one persan. - - * - - - , . 
.. ': 'I Ddekd: c 

w - - - - - - - - - - - -  * - *  - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

> 

Thc ~ o m m ~ ~ c j q l  Genera1 - + - - + - + - * - -  Liability * - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  insurance must include covera$e - - - - - - - - A - A - - - - - - -  for all of the following:- ',\'Deleted: 
comprehcnsivc form, premises, complete operations and contraclual coverage for the ',, 'r'Delehd:(a,Il,oou.mrotboddfl 
indcrnnificarion of the City and other contractual obligations herein. The Company may use 

I, 
injury or CIC~III lo my one penon; 

umbrella or cxccss liability insurance to achieve the required coverage for$ [c) S2.Oa0.000 in aggmga~e I w  M l y  
Cj;LIGe_n_e~ill injury m~ death prr single rc ic* r t  or 

Liability and Automobile Liability, provided that such umbrella or excess insurance 1-esults in the ., b, ,accunenm 
same type of coverage as required [or the Individual policies. ' 

Deleted: Compaknsivc 1 
Deleted: Comprchsite 

Before the Effcclivc Date of this Agreement, the Company shall pravidc City a 
J 

certificalc(s) of insurance evidencing compliance with the requirements in this Scction. The 
certificale(s) shall indicatc that the City, and Its agents, employees and officials, have been 

I named as an addilionnl insured on the@ nfr~ia! General - - - . - - Liability, - - - - - - Automobile - - - - - - - - - Liability, - - - - - - - and- - a + 1 Deleted: ConyrrcLem-v~ 1 
any applicable umbrclla and excess policies, with respect to all matters arising out of the 
Company operations cnntcmplatcd by this Agreement. Thereafter, upon request of thc City, 
Company shall furnish a current ccrtificalc(s) of insurance evidencing such coverage. Should 

I any or the policics rcyuired hcrcin be canccllcd heron. the expiration date thereof y reason 
cxccn~ in the casc of non-oavment of nremiurn, the insurer affording coverage will endeavor to 
mail 30 days writtcn nnticc of that cancellation lo the City, but failure to mail such notice shall 
impose no obligation or liability of any kind upon the insurer allbrding coverage, its agents, or 
representatives, or thc issuer of this ccnificatc. 

The provision of thc insurancc requircd in lhis scction and the recovery of insurance 
proceeds hereunder by thc City shall not limil the liability of the Company (if any) under othcr 
provisions or this Agreement. 

I b. Indcmnification.,~e Cpmg!ny g ~ s  !o de&nt_f,-i-@emnify n !  _h_o!d_\h_e-Ci!y,np jls- _, - 
agents, cmployccs and orficials, harmless from all suits, claims Tor damages (including personal 
injury or death and properly damage), judgments, Iosscs, expenses (including but no1 limited to 
reasonable attorneys' fccs, court costs and other litigation costs) and liabilities (hereinafter 

Deleted: 1 
tR I 

collcclivuly " ~ C l a i m s " )  which may arise, whcthcr in whole or in part, out of or in connection 
wilh thc installation, operation or maintenance or the II Nutwork J ~r t_h_e_ _ . - { ted: Rbrr Oplie Syrtedyracn ] 
Company's failure to perform any of its obligations unoer n ls  Agrccmcnt. Inc ciry agrees to 

I furnish Company written notice of any -Claims asscrted against it and any request that the 
Company indemniry City (or its representatives) pursuant to this Section. Notwithstanding the 

I foregoing, the Company shall not be obligated lo indemniry the City for -Claims resulting 
J~om !k ncgllcnt- or_ wjljfy! ct_s -ojf_the_ _C_ity_(p_r -it_s-repr_e_s~n_t;lt~~_e_s),~o_r-from_th~ _a_cli,in_s_ by !- -, - {oeleted: d e ~ y  3 



person or entity othcr than the Company in connection with the City's use of the Public Service I Pathway provided herein. 

$. ~erformance Bond, Prior to the Effective Date, the Rteted: (ii) .TO ~bc cxunr permittmi - . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  I Performance Bond in the amount of not less ~ i m ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ n ~ - ~ ~ l ~ ~ r ~  2~2~22~;29~mcs10 
of the City to secure the performance by the Company of its obligations under this Agreement. company, d its agenu. employees and 

This Bond shall be issued by a surety qualified to do business in Alabama and reasonably ollicils, h d r t s  from dl sui~s.claims 
for damages (including pcrroml injury or 

satisfactory to the City. death a d  ppmpny damage), judgments. 
Iasu, expenses lincludin~ bul MI 

(a) Dispute Resolution. The Designated Representatives of the Parties will use their good ', 'I: 
faith efforts to resolve my dispute or claim between them arising from the performance or failure ', 
to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement (a 'Dispute"). If the Designated : fl 
Representatives are unable to amicably resolve a Dispute, it will be escalated to the senior :$', 
rnanager/official level of each Party for consideration. If the Dispute cannot be resolved at the ', $', 
senior official level, either Party may request that the Dispute be mediated: if the Parties agree to I' 

: % mediate, each will bear its own costs of mediation, inchding attorneys' fees. However, if the ,$ parties are unable to amicably resolve any Dispute, the dispute resolution mechanism shall be ;tl, 
litigation in a court that is located in Jefferson County, Alabama. :%. 

(b) BrcachMotice of Breach. In the event the Company fails to comply with any of its 
material obligations under this Agreement (a "Breach"), thc City shall notify the Company in 
writing of the nature of the alleged noncompliance. The occurrences that constitute a material 
Breach by the Company, and may result in early termination of this Agreement and cancellation 
of the Franchise granted herein include the following: 

(1) -Failure to make any payments to the City required in this Agrcemcnl; 

(3) Failure to maintain the insurance policies and covcragc that are 
required hereunder; 

limittd ~otevotwblt a~~omeys' fees, 
councosu and othcr litigalion cosis) and 
liabilidcs (hencidlcr colIeclivcly 
"Company Clrims") which m y  dsc. 
whlher in whole or in pm. out of or in 
comlion wilh the Ci~y'r failure lo 
perform my of its obliga~ions under lhir 
Agmmml. The Company agrees lo 
furnish Company written noricc of m y  
Company Claim nssertcd again* it and 
;my requesl lhl Ihc City inJemnify Cily 
(or its rrpre~ntativcs) ~ U F E W ~ I O  this 
Section. Notwilhsluding Ihc tomgoing. 
lhc Cily shdl no1 k oblgalcd to 
inJcmniry Ihc Company lor Company 
Claim msulling imm hc neglipnl or 
willful xa of lhc Compmy (or ils 

(3) Failure to provide or furnish the City any information required under 
this Agreement; 

(4) Any breach or violation of any ordinance, rule or regulation or any 
applicable safety or construction requirements or regulations that present a 
threat to health or safely; 

(5) The occurrence of any cvcnt relating to the financial status of the 
Company which may reasonably lead to the foreclosure or other judicial or 
non+judicial sale of all or any material pan o l  the -or - - - - - - - L - - - L  the , - 4 Deleted: s- 1 
assets of the Company; 

(6) The condemnation by a pubtic authority, other than the City, or sale or 
dedication under threat or in lieu of condemnation, of all or substantially all 
of the facilities; or 



(7) If (a) the Company shall make an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, shall become and be adjudicated insolvent, shall petition or apply 
to any tribunal for, or conscnt to, the appointment of, or taking possession 
by, a receiver, custodian, liquidator or uustee or similar official pursuant to 
state or local laws, ordinances or regulations of any substantial pan of its 
property or assets, including all or any pan of thesmall Cell Network; (b) a ,  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _, - 5 Deleted: S Y S I C ~  1 
writ of attachment, execution, dislraint, levy, posscssion or any similar 
process shall be issued by any tribunal against all or any material part of the 
Company's property or assets; (c) any creditor of the Company petitions or 
applies to any tribunal for thc appointmcnl of, or taking possession by, a 
trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or simihr official for the Company or 
for any material parts or the property or assets of the Company under the 
law of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in effect, and a final order, 
judgment or dccrce is cntcred appointing any such truslee, receiver, 
custodian, liquidator or similar official, or approving the petition in any 
such proceeding; or (d) any final order, judgment or decree is entered in any 
proceedings against the Company decreeing the voluntary or involuntary 
dissolution of the Company. 

The Company shall not be deemed lo have defidultcd this Agreement or be in noncompliance 
with its provisions, nor suffer any enforcement or penalty relating thereto, where such 
noncompliance or alleged dcfaults are caused by strikcs, acts of God, power outages or other 
cvcnts reasonably beyond the ability to !he Company to control; provided that the Company's 
cxcuse Cor nonperformance only shall remain in effect as long as the condition causing that 
circumstance remains in existence, and thc Company is obligated to recommence its 
pcrrormance hcrcunder when upon the expiration of that condition. 

(c) Company's Right to Cure Breach or Respond. The Company shall have thirty (30) 
days from receipt of the notice of a Brcach as providcd in subpart (a) above (1) to rcspond to the 
Cily by contesting the assertion of noncompliance, (2) to cure such breach, or (c) in lhc cvcnt 
that, by the nature of the Brcach, it cannot be cured within the 30-day period for reasons beyond 
thc reasonable control of the Company, lo initiate rcasonable steps to remedy such Breach and 
notify the City of the steps being taken and the projectcd date that they will bc completed. 

I &&medies.- -In !he event, that the Company fails ,to . ,. - respond . to ,. . the .. . - notice of Breach - , - 
described in subpalr (a), i t  contests the assertion of noncompliance pursuant to the set-':; 
forth in subpart (b), or it does not remcdy the subject Breach within 30 days or by the date 
projected in subpart (b) above, the City may pursue any or all of the following rcmedics: 

1. Seck spccific performance of any provision which reasonably 
lends itself lo such a remedy; 

2. Make a claim against any surety with respect to the 
Pcrformancc Bond which may bc required to be posted; 



3. Restrain by injunction the default or reasonably anticipated 
default by the Company of any provision of this Agreement; 

4. Seek any other available remedy permitted by law or in equity; 

5. Take any other action which it deems appropriate to enforce the City's righm 
under this Agreement in lieu of revocation of the Agreement. 

(e) Revocation of FranchisclPublic Hearing. In addition to the remedies slated above, 
the City may schedule a public hearing to investigate the Breach and consider whether to 
terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. The City shall notify the Company in 
writing of the lime and place of such hearing, Such public hearing may be held at the next 
regularly scheduled meeting or the City's governing body, or at such other time and place which 
is scheduled not less than five business days from the City's notice of hearing. At that hearing 
the City shall give the Company an opportunity to state its position concerning the Breach and 
otherwise be heard, after which its governing body shall dctcrmine whether or not this 
Agreement shall be termina~ed and thc Franchise be revoked. In that event, the City may 
~crminate the Agreement and the revoke the Franchise effective ten (10) days following the 
determination by it governing body to terminate this Agreement. 

(f) Nothing herein shall preclude the Company from petitioning the Circuit Court of 
Jefferson County, Alabama to challenge a determination by the governing body or the City lo 
terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. Such challenge must be taken within thirty 
(30) days of the issuance of that determination. 

(g) Obligations or Company on Expiration or Early Termination of Agreement. Upon the 
expiradon or early termination of this Agreement for any reason, the City may request that the 
Company, at its own expense and within a reasonable amount of time following that request, 

I remove from the ROW anyJ$uinme-nLo~ facilItL~~hat_the Comp!ny p!acgt_lhe,on tp_pr_oyi_de_ - - - {oeleted: qukment 1 
its services and restore the surrounding property to the condition that existed prior to its 

I installation. Any&uinmcnt _not-rcmctycd by_th_e-Comp;lriy_ fo!I~_wjhg ~~~~$-may_be_I_eft-i_n- _ , - o d d :  quipmcnl 1 
place by the Company and deemed abandoned. Further, although the respective obligations of 
the Parties concerning further use of the ROW will cease upon the expiration or early 
termination or this Agreement, the Company's obligations to pay Franchise Fees, to permit the 
City to perform audits, lo furnish information to the City required hereunder, and to indemnify 
the City and provide insurance with respect to events occurring bcrore the lermination shall 
survive and remain in effect for a period of two (2) years following the expiration or effective 
date of early termination. 

10. Designated Representativdotices. 

The Parties appoint their respective representatives below to coordinate with the olhcr 
all matters pertinent to the administration of this Agreement (the "Designated Representative")., 

Designated Representative for City: 



City o f  Mountain Brook, Alabama 
A'ITENTION: City Manager 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, AL 352 I3 

Dcsignated Reprcsentative,~ o f  Company: 
- - C - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - * - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

Mailing Address: Leaal Notice: Billinp & Administrativ~ 
Crown Castle Crown Castle Issues: 
2000 Cornorate Drive 2000 Comorate Drive Crown-Castle 
Canonshurg. PA 153 17-8564 Canonshur~. PA I53 17-8564 2000 Comorate Drive 
1724) 416-2000 Attn: E, Blakc Hawk. General Canonsburp. PA 15317-8564 

Counsel Attn: Small Cell Contracts 
57241 4 16-2000 Adminiswation 

1724)-4 16-2000 

I J%gl! ~~?at$d-Rq_re_s$_nt_a!i_ve~so-sh~!l-ha~e?hc g"th@y, ~,;ct,o?,,beh~lf,qf. its ~spfc!iye - a  - - 
organization to transmit instructions and reccive informalion. Either Pany may suktitute a-' 
Dcsignalcd Representative other than the person named abovc upon provision or written notice. 

Ddeted: Southrrn Light, LLq 
ATITiNltON: Kelly McGrillQ 

. . . Gencnl CwnseM 
. . . . 10? SI. F d s  S t m  - Suile 

Mobile. AL 36602 

Deleted: I 
'1 I. 

Any noticc required hereunder to be sent in writing shall bc sufficiently given (a) in  
wriQng and (b) when scnt to the Designated Reprcscntativc for the other Party via United States 
certified mail, return reccipt rqucncd, or via overnight courier with receipt verification to the 
address set lonh herein, or by personally delivering such notice to the Party to be in  receipt 
thcrcof. 

I a. fimcn?ment. This Agrccmcnl ?lay -iy- _amcndu_d_ or -mmJifi_ed -qn_ly- by_ _a_ w&t!en- . - 4 ~dwt 
instrument that is executed by duly'nuthdri& representatives o f  both Parties. 

1 

b. Construction. Words of any gender used in this Agreement shall bc held and construed 
to include any other gender, and words in  singular number shall be held to include the plural and 
vice versa, unless context requires othcrwisc. The captions used in  connection with the sections 
o f  this Agreement are for convenience only and shalt not be deemed to construe or l imit the 
meaning of the language contained in  this Agrecment, or be used in  interpreting the meanings 
and provisions of this Agreement. 

c. No  Presumption against Drafter. The Parties acknowledge that each Party and its 
counsel have had the opportunity to review and revise this Agreement, and the normal rule or 
construction lo the elTecl that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall 
not be employed i n  the interpretation o f  this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits thereto. 

I d. @!ire Agree~n! .  pi: Ag~cmentfonstitutcs - - . . - - - - the - - cntire_ilg~e_emen! - - - betwe_en _the_ Cjty- ,: 
and Company with respect to the subject -mancr contained herein and supersedes all prior or 

I 16 



contemporaneous discussions, agreements, andfor representations of or between them, whether 
oral or written, regarding the subject matter hereof. 

e. No Waiver. The failure of either Party to enforce any of the terms, conditions or 
provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a subsequent waiver or the right to compel 
enforcement of that or any other term, condidon or provision. The respective rights, benefits and 
obligations under this Agreement may be waived only in a writing signed by the Parties. 

I. Binding Elfect This Agreement shall be binding upon and for the benefit of each of 
the Parties and their respective principals, managers, officials, offices, directors, shareholders, 
agents, employees, attorneys, successors and assigns. and any parent, subsidiary or affiliated 
corporation or entity, as applicable. 

g. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the 
same agreement. Signature pages may be transmitted by facsimile and any signature transmitted 
by facsimile will be given the same force and effect as an original signature. 

h. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the 
laws of the State of Alabama. 

I i. &s_ig~e_n_t, -l)~-C~mpa_ny~s- i_n!-s_tjn !h_is A~r~e-mc_n_t n d  _tkFrgchise_ sh_;l!I_np_l _b_e 
assigned, sold, transferred, or otherwise encumbered or disposed of, either by forced or voluntary 
sale or olherwise, without the prior written consent or the City, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. Notwithstand 

of thc Commnv or to any successor in interest or entity acauirinn: .fifty-one, -rercent 15 1%) -or 
mar? of the Comnany,:~ stock or .assets 

gualifications of the piop&ed transferee either alone or toeether-with the Compnn~ls 
pmaremcnt &am. in ~ h c  mvision of tclpcommunications or similar services, evidences an 
ability to omrate the Small Cell Network and comnly with the Cornmy's ohli~ations hereunder. ,'~;II~',' 

y y s '  nrior wri~tcn notice frhe 'Transfer - - - -  - - - - - - - - -  Noticew\ to,'$:,' , 
~ h e  Tit! of any such ~ r o p s e d  ~Iqn_sfe-rcy@--5h~l-5e~ -foe? -yifi >Kcjficitv jn &h ~~n~ferj; , ; : .  
Notice the reasons why the Companv bclieves the ,Tr!ns_fcr_ _C_rc'i_a- h ! ~  hcc~-gi_sfied,- 
City Manmrshall be vrovidcd rcasonahlr: rrrriodfthe 'Transfer Evaluation Period"] from the f '1 ,' 
date that the Company. aives -the. City its. Exemuted Transfer.. Naice ro o b j ~ ! .  or r - -- ' 0-,',' , 

to the Trans€~r or of  he e-. In the event that the_, ,' 
Citv Manaeer does not ohiect to the Transfer within sixty 4601 days followine noticc. consent to ,' 
t h e e  . Ciy - - - - - - - - - _  irvenserves the right - - - - - - - - - - - _ - -  to be reimbursed by-,' 
the Company for costs incurred by it in reviewing the Company's request for transfeq- _ _ _  _ _ _ _ _ 

- . . . . . . . . 
C ,  

Ddehd: Exempted 

Ddw: conwid  

Deleted: C the City C ouwil f&h tb 
act upon iht Company's Exempvd 
Tmsfu Noiicc wilhin the Eacmpted 
Transfer Evdualion Petid (m lk lame 
m y  be uricnc*d in rcconlmce with the 
foregoing pmvirions). such railurc ~bll 
be r*cmed M nlfimlion by lhc Cily 
Council hat he Company hrs in facl 
cs~abliihal c o m p l i  wilh Ihc 
Exemptnl Transfer Criteria la the Bly.3 
saisf~clion. 

Deleted. of ownershin 



j. Independent Contractors. The City and Company are independent contractors. The 
Company exclusively controls the methods and means by which it conducts its operations. 
Further, neither this Agreement nor any provision herein is intended make either Party the agent, 
fiduciary or partner OF the other, or grant either Party any authority to bind the other to any 
obligation with a third party. 

k. Other Representations. Thc Company and the City each represent 10 the other that it 
has the requisite powcr and authorily to enter into this Agreement, that each has secured d l  
necessary board, corporate or other required approval to enter this Agreement, and [hat i ls  
undersigned representatives are authorized to execute below on behalf of their respective 
organization. 

I m. #2ooperation. . . . . - . - - The - - . - - - Company - - - and . - - thc - - - City - - shall - - - - - - coopcrate - - - - fully - - - - with - - - - one-a_np_lhu_r-to- - - . Delete& 1 
cxccule any and all other documents and take whalever any additional actions (including, 
without limitation, the processing of permits) that may be necessary or appropriate ro give full 
forcc and cffect to the lerms and intent of this Agreement. 

n. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall 
bu construed as creating or conferring any rights, benefits or remedies upon, or creating any 
ohligations of the Parties hereto toward any person or entity not a Party to this Agreement 

I Feesl -IT (i) either Pyjy breaches its obtigations to the orher h~rcundcr,, (ii) - . - 1 Deleaed: a. Attorneys' 

rhc non-ucrau~nng Party should emptoy attor'neys or incur oth&'expenses in any legal action 
1 

regarding such breach of this Agreement, and (iii) thc non-defaulting Party secures a final 
judgment before a court o l  competent jurisdiction or obtains other relief from an administrative 
body related thereto against the defaulting Pany, the losing Party in that proceeding will pay the 
prevailing Party its rcasonablc attorneys' fccs and other reasonable expenses that are incurred in 
that breach+of+contract action. 

I 
held invalid, illegal, unconstitutional or unenforccablc for any reason, such holding shall not bc 
construed to invalidate or impair its remaining provisions, which shall continue in full force and , 
cffea notwilhsland4ng such holding. 

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER,] 
TH-*.f,; @j IT 

MAKES OR ASSERTS ANY CLAIM, DEMTND OR ACTJON OF ANY TYPE 'AGA~NST ,;7.s - P 

THE DYER ARISING FROM ,&J ALLEGED- BREACH-OF-TnE fiREEKU-ORA-Z',. 
FAILURE TO-MRFORM ANY @BLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT_, ' . 
THAT MAX ERECOVER & S - D ~ ~ A G E S - @ ~  ANY NcHT ACRON 6 L~MI@D;TO , :'- 
THE AGGRI_EV_E_F -PAR- - ACTUAL, -DIRECT DAMAGES ARISING FROM THE - - - 
$REACH,~CH P A - R _ ~  ~ ~ ~ E ~ ~ A N D A ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ L E D G E ~ ~ ~ A T ~ T ~ E ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ H E R E I ~ ~ ~  . - 
WERE PROPOSED AND BASED ON I%IE ASSUMPTION THAT MIS SPEC~RC %'- .  

I LlMITATlON IS APPLICABLE, AND THATNEII17rIER_P?Fml3 WOUL,DfiA.VE E-RED - - - 
INTO THIS AGREEMENT WITHOUT THE INCLUSION OF THIS LIMITATION. IN NO '- . 

I EVENT WILL JZ!THER- PAR-? BE LIABLE TO THE PTHER FOR- ANY _I_N-DIECT, 
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, - Pu~iTlvE, RELIANCE ORECIAL DAMAGES-> 

.( Deleted: FROM Tf lE C m  1 
Ddeted: COMPANY'S 

We&d: Cm"S I 
1 Deleted: TflE COMPANY 

.( Deleted: TtlECrrY 
Wcted: NOT 



(INCLUDING WlTHOUT LIMITATION DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS, LOST 
ADVANTAGE. LOST OPPORTUNITY. LOSS OF SAVINGS OR REVENUES OR FOR 
INCREASED COST OF OPERATIONS) ARISING FROM ANY BREACH OR ALLEGED 

I Bru2ACH OF THIS AGREEMEW A A - - - - - - - - A - - - - - - A - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - _ , - Deleted: BY 'ME CITY 1 
r. &icensin&~s_. -@e[o~e_ -c-o-mm:!c_i?g -fly- _ o p ~ l & ~ s -  _cg~l_emp!a_t@ _h_e~e_u~_der, -t_h_e- 

Company,& -i_ts_ -own_ _e_xEese, _yil! -cb~!i_n_ I _ l _  l_i$e_n5$s2 _ p~rmiils- _o~ _qt_h$r_ _go_vcy-mep!a_tt_ 
authorizations needed to construct thc$mall Cell Network, - provide its services and perform its 
Operations, including without limitation, any business license issued by applicable governing 
authorities ("Licensing"). The Company agrees to maintain that Licensing throughout the 

- 
- _ . -fDeleted: 1 

f Meted: System 

. . -  

performance of this ~beement .  

employ, hire for employment, or continue to employ an "unauthorized alien," as defined by the -' - 
Beasor~~Hat~r~~zotr Alabanra Taxpayer atrd Citizetr Prorectiori Act, Act No. 201 1-535 (W. B. 56), 
as amended from time to time (the "Act") and that, during the performance or this Agreement, 

I (N-i! ubal!pasjcipatc - - - - - - - - - - -  in thc E-Verify pyog!m_a_s_re_quj[ed-under_thp_te_~s-of_the_ Act&-,-wi!l- , + - 
comply with all applicable provisions of the Act with respect to its contractors by entering into '<- 
an agreement with or by obtaining an affidavit from such contractors providing that such ' 

I 
therefrom. 

(Sigrtartrre Page Follows) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto, by their duly nulhorized representatives, 
have execuled this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

Deleted: SOUTllERN LICIIT, LLC 

Fonnatled: Font: 12 pt, Bdd 

By: 

Title: 

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Date; 

Deleted2 -,...-..--, Page Bleak .-......- 
I 
. . EXIIIUIT A - INITIAL 

PWPOSED ROUTE OF 
EYSTBIlSbMLL CELL N E W O R K ~  
Sa sllxbrtl Wapd 
1 
q 
1 
1 
,l 



Page' i:' [I] Deleted'. - .  . - .. Authl - - 

(the "Fiber Optic System" or "SystemSmall Cell Network SysternNetwork" or 
"System") 

(the "Small Cell Technology Facilities Ordinance" or "Ordinance") 
'rpage 1?'[3] Delead Author. . . . 

WHEREAS, the areas in tllG City at which the ~ o m ~ a n ~  initid= 
construct its Fiber Optic Systemsystem are shown on the map that is attached as Exhibit 
A; 

WHEREAS, 
- ..- 

Pagei:[5].0eleted . Author - - - -- - - - . - - -- , .- . . 

the services to be provided by the Company over its System concern the transport 
of data, voice or video communications between locations in the City in which such 
communications may both originate and terminate in the City, or may only originate or 
terminate in it; 

s d T 7 3  Formatted I- - - -  

Font: Not Bold, Not Itall- "-- '--- : 

IPage-5:  [8] Dileted 
, however, thar sucn approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, 
or delayed. In addition, the City agrees to process applications, if required, 
pursuant to the terms of and within the timeframes provided by the FCC's 
Declaratory Ruling, WT Docket No. 08-165, FCC 09-99. November 18- 2009; 

Page 5: 191 Formatted' . . : ' ' Author - % - Pa 
Norma1,Style 28, Indenl 
' - Page 5: (101 Foimattcd 
Justified, Indent: Left: I 

Page 5: [ll] Formatted 
Norma1,Style 28, Indenl Right: 0.3", No bullets or numbering 
I Page'5: 1121 Deleted' . Author. 

; provided, however, that the permit fee and process that the City requests from 
the Company are functionally equivalent to the fees and the process that are 
applied to the ILEC and/or the cable provider(s). In the case of generally- 
applicable construction permits, the City agrees to review and approve the 
Company's applications within thirty (30) calendar days of submittal, and, if no 
comment is received in writing within thirty (30) calendar days, the application 
will be deemed approved. In the case of attachments to utility-owned pole 
infrastructure, or to any pole the Company intends to place in the ROW, the 



Company agrees to provide the City with a list of proposed attachment locations 
in advance of its deployment to the City, and the City agrees to use reasonable 
efforts to review and approve such list within ten (10) business days of 
submittal. If no written comment is received by the Company from the City 
within ten (10) business days, the application shall be considered approved, and 
no further action will be required prior to the Company's installation. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City agrees to process applications for 
upgrades, modifications, colocations and other applicable requests, if application 
is required, pursuant to the terms of Section 6409 of the Middle Class Tax Relief 
and Job Creation Act of 2012 (the "Spectrum Act") and the terms and 
timeframes provided by the FCC's Report and Order, WT Docket No. 13-238, 
FCC 14-153, October 17,2014, as respectively applicable; 


	2015-Nov-23 Pre-meeting Agenda
	1.   Phase 5b sidwalk project
	2.   Blueprint Birmingham
	3.   Workplace Violence policy
	4.   Transportation Network Company
	5.   Wireless/small cell technology
	5a Memorandum
	5b Small cell ordinance
	5c Fee structure
	5d Franchise agreement



